
                                               

 
 

 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 
 

12 March 2024 
 

7.30 pm 
 

Town Hall, Watford 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact 
 
Sandra Hancock  
democraticservices@watford.gov.uk 
01923 278377 
 
For information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website. 
 
 
 

Publication date: 4 March 2024 

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20017/councillors_and_decision_making/163/can_i_attend_a_committee


 

 

Town Hall 
Watford 

4 March 2024 
 

Councillor 
 

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council of the Borough of Watford 
to be held on Tuesday, 12 March 2024 starting at 7.30 pm at the Town Hall, Watford to 
take into consideration and determine upon the following subjects, namely: - 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  
 
2. Disclosure of Interests  
 
3. Minutes  
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2024 to be submitted and signed.   

 
4. Official Announcements  
 
5. Mayor's Report (Pages 7 - 12) 
 
 Report of the Mayor 

 
6. Questions by Members of the Council under Council Procedure Rule 10.0  
 
7. Questions by Members of the Public under Council Procedure Rule 11.0  
 
8. Petitions presented under Council Procedure Rule 12.0  
 
9. Business especially brought forward by the Chairman or the Head of Paid Service 

which in the opinion of the Chairman should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.  

 
10. Vice Chairman 2024-25 (Pages 13 - 18) 
 
 Report of the Democratic Services Manager  

 
11. Allocation of disposal proceeds to acquire TA properties (Pages 19 - 22) 
 
 Report of the Senior Regeneration Manager 

 
12. Council Pay Policy Statement - April 2024 (Pages 23 - 61) 
 
 Report of the Executive Head of Human Resources and Organisational 

Development 

http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

 

Motions submitted under Council Procedure Rule 13.0 

13. Motion - Fly tipping  
 
 The following motion has been proposed by Councillor Trebar and seconded by 

Councillor Watling: 
 
“We live in a beautiful town with many beautiful parks and green spaces which are 
enjoyed every day by our residents. What a shame it is, therefore that if you turn 
down any main street in Watford on many corners of that street you will see at 
least one item of rubbish left on the floor or a household item dumped. 
 
“Sustainable Watford”, is the re-branded new Environmental Strategy 2023-2030 
and Delivery Plan 2023-2025, however it does not deal with the central issue 
which consistently plagues Watford; disgusting, disgraceful and unsafe fly tipping. 
 
According to the Watford Observer 21st January, the number of fly-tipping 
incidents in Watford apparently decreased last year from 1,342 in 2021-22 to 
1,168 fly-tipping incidents in Watford in the year to March 2023. I would argue 
that these are reported cases and do not show the true extent of the problem. 
 
Veolia do an excellent job of picking up fly tipping in Watford in areas they know 
and regularly pick up rubbish from hotspots from these areas. They should be 
commended for their service. However, not all these areas are reported regularly 
because the fly tipping is often picked the next day, by Veolia. This does not go to 
the root of the problem. We need the CCTV to be circulated to different places to 
catch the perpetrators and deter them. Where the current CCTV is placed is based 
on recorded ‘hot spots’ not other areas which need to be considered - not on how 
often residents (the victims of this crime are reporting it) but based on areas 
where there is constant fly tipping and Veolia regularly pick up rubbish from. 
 
Fly tipping is not a victimless crime. We are all victims of it. We need to show 
across the whole town that we are taking it seriously and that we are actively 
acting to stop it across all wards. 
 
We have to use all resources to hand to tackle this. CCTV and hefty fines are one of 
the best ways to deter criminals who fly tip but there are other methods we 
should consider at the same time. 
 
This council resolves that the Mayor: 
 
1.  Should encourage all residents and businesses to behave responsibly and 

with community spirit to avoid littering. This could be achieved through the 
use of social media and print outlets such as ‘My Watford Magazine’ to 
inform residents that fly tipping is illegal and to tell them that we are 



 

 

actively working to bring the criminals to justice. We should also inform 
them of how to arrange for large items to be collected by the council to 
create greater awareness. 

 
2.  Continue working to promote and encourage measures and initiatives to 

reduce waste and support more reuse and recycling.  
 
3.  Commend and thank Veolia for all their hard work and continue to work 

with the contractors of the Council to fulfil their obligations to keep our 
borough clean.  

 
4.  Continue to support robust enforcement, including via CCTV evidence, 

directed at those making Watford a less pleasant place to be and where 
possible increase CCTV into other known fly tipping areas.” 

 
14. Motion - Interfaith Association  
 
 The following motion has been proposed by Councillor Dychton and seconded by 

Councillor Stotesbury: 
 
“Watford Council notes: 
 
1.  The considerable and positive work done by the Watford Interfaith 

Association since it was established in 1977.  
 
2.  That the Watford Interfaith Association brings people of all faiths and none 

closer together through their annual interfaith pilgrimage, Peace Garden 
and other events and activities.  

 
3.  Reports of a concerning rise in hate crimes in the UK, including increased 

cases of antisemitism and Islamophobia.  
 
4.   The decision of the UK government to end all funding for the Interfaith 

Network for the UK, which will result in the closure of the charity. 
 
Council believes: 
 
1.  The work of interfaith associations has never been more important.  
 
2.  At this time, every effort should be made to bring faith communities 

together to tackle the challenges our society faces.  
 
3.  That it is deeply regrettable that the government has decided to end all 

funding for the Interfaith Network for the UK. 
 



 

 

Council calls on the Elected Mayor of Watford to write to the Rt Hon Michael Gove 
MP, the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, to outline 
our opposition to this decision.” 
 

15. Motion - Stop the Conservatives punishing local councils for building houses  
 
 The following motion has been proposed by Councillor G Saffery and seconded by 

Mayor Taylor: 
 
“Council Notes that: 
 
Watford Council was recently identified, alongside 58 other Councils, by the 
Conservative government as failing the 'Housing Delivery Test.'. 
 
Despite the fact that over 700 new homes have been constructed in the Borough 
in each of the last two years measured by this test, the Conservatives have opted 
to punish Watford Borough Council for apparently not building enough, requiring 
the council to produce an ‘action plan’ and continuing to place us under the 
'presumption in favour of sustainable development.'  
 
This will further weaken local control over the type of development that is 
appropriate for our area and could lead to more applications for increasingly tall 
buildings. It also significantly weakens the Council’s hand when defending appeals 
against our decisions to refuse proposals that do not adequately meet local policy 
or housing need.  
 
The Council has made significant efforts to meet local demand through our award-
winning Local Plan, approved by the Government’s own planning inspectorate and 
adopted by this Council in November 2022.  
 
However the Conservatives’ approach unfairly penalises these efforts to actively 
contribute to solving the housing crisis. It rides roughshod over local policy, 
compromising both the quality and affordability of new homes and increasing the 
density of development in areas like Watford that are already built up. It increases 
the burden on local infrastructure without the requisite investment from national 
government to support it. Perversely, the Government’s approach even fails to 
prioritise the area of most acute need – the provision of family-sized social and 
affordable housing units.   
 
The Council expresses its dismay at the government's continuing punitive 
measures despite our constructive efforts to address the national housing 
shortage – prioritising sustainability, affordability and quality through our local 
plan.  
 
Council strongly voices its concerns regarding the overly-centralised planning 



 

 

system, emphasising the fact that local councils doing their part to deliver new 
homes should not face unwarranted punishment.  
 
Council acknowledges that some local councils are contributing almost nothing to 
addressing national housing shortages, and yet it is councils making substantial 
efforts that bear the brunt of penalties. 
 
Council resolves to: 
 

1. Ask the Elected Mayor to write to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities, seeking assurance that local councils with strong 
and up to date local policies to address housing need will not be subject to 
punitive measures. 
 

2. Ask the Secretary of State to reform national policy to make housing targets 
fairer and more evenly spread. 

 
3. Urge the government to consider the impact of cuts on local councils and to 

provide support rather than punitive measures for those actively working 
towards meeting housing targets. 

 
This motion aims to safeguard local councils from unjust sanctions, instigate a 
fairer assessment of housebuilding efforts, and encourage closer dialogue 
between Local and UK government to address the housing crisis more effectively.” 
 
 

 

 
Donna Nolan, Chief Executive 



Introduction 

 

In my last report, I said that 2024 would see challenges due to government funding cuts, the cost-of-

living crisis and increased demand on our services. Reports by the Local Government Association and 

others show that councils across the country are facing significant financial difficulties.  

 

As a result of these financial pressures, many councils are cutting important public services. In 

Watford we have taken sensible financial decisions for many years but, like all councils, we are having 

to work harder than ever to balance the books.   

 

As we mark the second anniversary of the full-scale war in Ukraine, and witness the horrific events in 

Gaza, I am aware of the direct impact these conflicts are having on loved ones of residents living in 

our town. I am continuing to work closely with the Watford Interfaith Association and others to 

ensure that Watford remains a united town in the face of these terrible global situations.  

 

There are many exciting and important updates in this report. It is important to remember that we 

are only able to progress these because of the dedication and ability of members and officers in the 

council.  

 

As testament to the hard work in our Town Hall, I am pleased to report that Watford has recently 

been listed as the top place to live and work in the UK in the Vitality Index. The Vitality Index is an 

annual assessment of the UK’s largest towns and cities outside London, undertaken by property 

consultancy Lambert Smith Hampton. They revealed Watford as the UK’s best place to live and work 

based on a number of metrics that contribute to overall growth prospects. 

 

A Competent Council 

 

Parks and Open Spaces Designs by West Herts College Students 

I recently visited West Herts College to see the showcased talent of students there. These students 

designed innovative concepts for Watford's parks and open spaces. Focused on blending art with 

practicality, these designs demonstrated the students’ creativity and community centred approach. 

These projects are a really valuable way of fostering skills and empowering students to contribute 

meaningfully to urban environments. The collaborative effort between students and Watford 

Borough Council will go a long way to create vibrant and sustainable public spaces. 

 

It’s very evident from my visit to West Herts College that the design students will be a great addition 

to the next generation of British landscape designers and architects. 

 

Focused Efforts Against Fly Tipping 

Councillor Kennedy Rodrigues, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhood Services, and I, led a site visit to 

address fly tipping hotspots around St Albans Road. The initiative is part of ongoing efforts to combat 

illegal waste disposal and raise awareness about responsible waste practices.  

 

We are utilising the S.C.R.A.P code, verifying waste carriers and obtaining proper documentation for 

waste removal. We will be reinforcing the narrative that fly tipping is not a victimless crime and that 

these fly tipping hot spots are in fact environmental crime scenes. We remain committed to tackling 

fly-tipping through investigations, fines, and promoting responsible waste disposal practices. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



A Caring Community 

 

Impact of Watford Community Lottery 

The Watford Community Lottery has achieved a remarkable milestone, raising £20,000 for local 

charities and projects since its establishment in 2023. I promised to introduce a lottery when 

standing in the 2022 mayoral election and am pleased to see this delivering funding for community 

groups, including sports clubs, disability charities, projects to combat homelessness, and many more. 

 

Mayor's Small Grants Fund for Community Initiatives 

We recently reopened the Mayor's Small Grants Fund, offering voluntary and community 

organisations the opportunity to apply for grants of up to £3,000. The fund supports various 

initiatives aligned with the Council Plan themes, focusing on creating a greener, brighter future; an 

inspiring, thriving, and creative town; and a diverse, happy, and healthy town.  

 

Past beneficiaries include multicultural community carnivals, sustainability projects, support for 

elderly care, and community allotment initiatives. We are encouraging local groups to apply, so we 

can support the impactful work of voluntary and community groups in Watford. Drop-in sessions will 

be held to guide interested organisations through the application process. 

 

 

A thriving local economy 

 

Watford Tops UK Vitality Index 

As mentioned previously, Watford has been rightfully recognised as the UK's top place to live and 

work in the 2024 UK Vitality Index, surpassing last year's top location, Bath.  

 

This annual health assessment by Lambert Smith Hampton identifies the best places for living, doing 

business, and potential future opportunities among the UK's largest urban areas. Watford's top-

ranking position is attributed to its outstanding performance in the Economy and Business pillar, 

reflecting the town's steady climb in the overall standings. Watford placed 3rd last year. 

 

Watford is committed to strategic investments, environmental initiatives, and improvements in 

various sectors, making it a vibrant and thriving community. 

 

Wellbeing event for our business community 

Watford Borough Council, in collaboration with key partners such as Watford & Three Rivers Trust, 

Hertfordshire Mind, and Watford's Chamber of Commerce, is taking proactive steps to promote 

employee wellbeing in local businesses.  

 

The event, 'Looking after your organisation’s wellbeing' in February took place in Watford Town Hall 

and invited businesses to learn and connect with local wellbeing services. This initiative aims to 

provide practical strategies for effective wellbeing plans, creating healthier workplaces, and boosting 

overall productivity. It’s important to build a thriving and supportive business community, with 

mental wellbeing supporting staff performance and job satisfaction. 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



A greener town 

 

Beryl's Expansion in Hertfordshire 

I am pleased that we are expanding the highly successful Beryl Bike scheme so that the scheme will 

now be operating across three neighbouring Hertfordshire councils. This expansion stems from the 

success of our partnership in promoting active travel within the county. Watford's decision to extend 

the contract until 2026, coupled with Three Rivers District Council and Hertsmere Borough Council 

introducing Beryl Bikes' services into Croxley and Bushey, respectively, has created a seamless 

network across Hertfordshire.  

 

With upcoming plans, including new docking stations and e-bikes, we aim to enhance the cycling 

experience for residents in Bushey, Croxley and Watford. Beryl's impact has been transformative, 

promoting sustainable transportation and reducing carbon emissions across the region. 

 

The expansion into new areas, benefits a wider section of our Hertfordshire community and 

contributes to a healthier and cleaner environment, and carbon neutrality by 2030. 

 

Tales of the River Heritage Exploration 

Watford’s River Colne has been spotlit with new 'Tales of the River' activities. Made possible by The 

National Lottery Heritage Fund, this program invites schools and community organisations for 

captivating river tours, an upcoming podcast series unveiling hidden secrets, scenic River Ambles, 

and eco-friendly Wild Play activities for families. In 2022, Watford Borough Council were awarded 

over £246,000, and this three-year project aims to strengthen community ties and explore the river's 

impact on Watford's history. 

 

Restoring the River Colne Milestone 

Watford Borough Council, in collaboration with Groundwork East, celebrates a significant milestone 

in the 10-year 'Rediscovering the River Colne' project. Volunteers and staff were engaged in physical 

activities to improve the river's landscape for both wildlife and visitors. The project involves creating 

low banks and flow deflectors to replicate natural bends, slowing the water flow and enhancing 

biodiversity. The council expresses gratitude to partners Grundon Waste Management, the 

Environment Agency, and Affinity Water for funding this initiative.  

 

20,000 Trees Planted 

Last time I reported back, I was happy to say that Watford Borough Council had broken last year’s 

record on tree planting. In our commitment to environmental sustainability, we planted 197 trees 

across the town last year.  

 

Now, we can announce the successful achievement of the ambitious target to plant 20,000 trees in 

the town by 2026. The manifesto commitment, launched in 2022, has seen remarkable progress, 

with thousands of trees enhancing the urban landscape, supporting biodiversity, and improving air 

quality. Through tree giveaways and highway plantings, we have surpassed the goal two years ahead 

of schedule. 

 

Watford is trailblazing in local government on creating a greener and healthier environment. The 

newly planted trees are expected to absorb approximately 60,000 pounds of carbon dioxide annually, 

contributing significantly to the town's transition to a net-zero carbon status by 2030. 

 

Page 9



New Electric Vehicles for Parks Maintenance 

In a commitment to reduce emissions and lead the way towards carbon neutrality, we have worked 

in collaboration with Veolia, has secured three new electric vehicles for the town's parks 

maintenance. The electric cage tipper vehicles bring several environmental advantages. Notably, 

improved air quality, diminished noise pollution, and reduced carbon dioxide emissions. These 

additions align with the council's pledge to achieve net-zero carbon emissions in the town by 2030, 

representing a crucial step in making Watford a greener and more environmentally friendly 

community.  

 

A safer town 

 

Public Consultation on Licensing Policy 

We have been engaging the public in a consultation on our licensing policy, asking local residents, 

licence holders, schools, and other stakeholders to share their insights on the borough's licensing 

policy. Governed by the Licensing Act 2003, this policy addresses alcohol, entertainment, and late-

night refreshment licensing, aligning with the four key objectives of preventing crime and disorder, 

ensuring public safety, preventing public nuisance, and protecting children from harm.  

 

Particularly, we sought views on the Cumulative Impact Policy, aimed at promoting a diverse mix of 

businesses in the town centre. This policy safeguards residents while supporting licensed businesses. 

It articulates our expectations for the town centre, aligning with our vision for the area. 

 

New Police station opened 

In December of the previous year, officers and staff bid farewell to the long-standing police station on 

Shady Lane, their operational base since 1940, as they transitioned to their new home on George 

Street. I attended a ceremony hosted by Chief Constable Charlie Hall and Police and Crime 

Commissioner David Lloyd which marked this pivotal moment in Watford's policing history. 

 

The Lord-Lieutenant of Hertfordshire, Robert Voss CBE, honoured the occasion by unveiling a 

commemorative plaque.  

 

The strategic move to George Street, facilitated by Hertfordshire Police and aided by Watford Council, 

positioned the new facility closer to the town centre than its previous site on Shady Lane.  

 

Watford Council played a pivotal role in ensuring seamless access to the new building, collaborating 

closely with the police to execute a successful and efficient relocation. Council officers from the 

parking team changed restrictions on lines outside the building so that vehicles could get better 

access to the new station. I also intervened to ensure that Hertfordshire police had less problems 

parking nearby, notably at St. Mary’s church. The transition to the new building became necessary as 

the Shady Lane site had reached the end of its economic life and demanded increasingly costly 

maintenance. 

 

Improving Watford 

 

Watford's Commitment to Development Quality Charter 

Watford Borough Council proudly endorses the Hertfordshire Development Quality Charter, for high-

quality, sustainable development. The Charter sets a benchmark for excellence in urban planning, 

architecture, and environmental sustainability. The council aims to meet the charter's design and 

Page 10



sustainability pledges, aligning with the principles outlined in the RTPI East of England award-winning 

Local Plan.  

 

Watford Shopper Bus  

The newly launched Watford Shopper Bus, a collaborative effort led by Communities 1st and 

supported by Watford Borough Council, has become an integral part of transport in Watford. 

 

The bus, serving various wards in Watford, provides a vital link to essential services, particularly 

grocery shopping. I joined residents on the bus, and I could really see the positive impact it has on 

residents' lives. The Shopper Bus, operating on Mondays and Tuesdays, offers a reliable and 

affordable travel option for Watford residents that find it difficult to get about. 

Through the Shopper Bus we offer reliable transportation allowing people to maintain their 

independence. 

 

News and Events  

 

Holocaust Memorial Day 

Watford joined communities worldwide in commemorating Holocaust Memorial Day, laying a wreath 

at Anne Frank's tree outside Watford Central Library. Chairman Cllr Simon Feldman and I were joined 

by representatives from Watford and District Synagogue and Watford Police, recognising the 

anniversary of the liberation of Auschwitz-Birkenau. This day pays tribute to victims of the Holocaust 

and subsequent genocides, highlighting Watford's historical connection, especially through the 

Kindertransport mission and Mrs. Kathleen Freeman OBE's compassionate efforts. We must stand up 

against discrimination, racism, and hatred in all its guises, to preserve freedom for future 

generations. 

 

Watford Museum on Tour: 'From Watford, With Love' 

Watford Museum on Tour, supported by The National Lottery Heritage Fund, presented the event 

'From Watford, With Love.' This free drop-in event at the Creator Space, Watford Central Library, on 

22 and 23 February, explored Watford's rich history. Attendees engaged in entertaining craft activities 

for children, learned about historical communication methods, and interacted with the museum's 

handling collection.  

 

Observing the Second Anniversary of the Conflict in Ukraine 

Ukrainian families, alongside their hosts in Watford, commemorated the second anniversary of the 

conflict in Ukraine. The events on February 23rd and 24th, included a flag-raising ceremony, 

candlelight vigil, and a service at St Mary's Church. 

 

Successful Abbey Line Trail Walk Raises £1,000 for Watford Women's Centre 

I am pleased to report the success of the Abbey Line Trail Walk, where the community of Watford 

came together to raise £1,000 in donations for the Watford Women's Centre. Led by Deputy Mayor 

Cllr Aga Dychton, this 10-mile walk reinforced the success of the white ribbon day campaign at the 

council.  

 

Participants of all ages, families, and groups actively engaged in the event, contributing not only to 

the funds raised but also to a meaningful dialogue about the important work undertaken by the 

Watford Women's Centre.  

 

Page 11



This walk, starting from Watford Junction station and concluded at St Albans Abbey station. We 

wanted to highlight the importance of challenging attitudes and behaviours that perpetuate violence 

against women and girls. I extend my heartfelt gratitude to everyone who joined the walk, 

reinforcing our community's dedication to supporting vital services in Watford. 

 

Dreams United: Stadium Sleepout 

On Friday, March 1st, the Watford FC Community Sports and Education Trust, in collaboration with 

New Hope, One YMCA, DENS, and Herts Young Homeless, organised a Sleepout event at Vicarage 

Road Stadium. 

 

I took part in the sleepout, held in the Rookery Stand. A unique overnight experience, participants 

trading their beds for sleeping bags overlooking the empty pitch in the freezing cold.  

 

Special guests and ambassadors from the charities raised awareness of homelessness, and engaging 

activities were featured during the evening. People taking part raised hundreds of pounds for local 

charities fighting homelessness and offering support services. 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



Part A 
 
Report to:  Council 
 
Date of meeting: Tuesday, 12 March 2024 
 
Report author: Democratic Services Manager 
 
Title:   Vice Chairman 2024/25 Nominations 
 
 
1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides details of nominations for the position of Vice Chairman for 

2024/25 in accordance with the procedures agreed by Council at its meeting on 19 
March 2019 and attached to this report as Appendix 2. 

 
1.2 In response to an email from the Democratic Services Manager on 20 February 

2024, Councillor Favour Ezeifedi has forwarded her nomination.  She is being 
proposed by Councillor Nigel Bell and seconded by Councillor Asif Khan. 

 
1.3 Due to no other nominations being submitted no vote is required, as set out in the 

procedures to elect a Vice Chairman. 
 
2.0 Risks 
 
2.1 No risks are envisaged as a councillor has been nominated in accordance with the 

procedures. 
 
3.0 Recommendation 
 
3.1 that Council confirms the appointment of Councillor Favour Ezeifedi as Vice 

Chairman for 2024/25. 
 
 Further information: 
 Sandra Hancock 
 sandra.hancock@watford.gov.uk 
 Tel: 01923 278377 
 
 Report approved by: Donna Nolan, Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 10



4.0 Detailed proposal 
 
4.1 At Council on 30 January 2024 the Chairman, Councillor Feldman, informed 

members that the Democratic Services Manager would be in contact in February 
seeking nominations for the position of Vice Chairman for 2024/25. 

 
4.2 On Tuesday 20 February the Democratic Services Manager wrote to all members 

seeking nominations for the position of Vice Chairman for 2024/25.  The deadline 
for nominations was close of business on Tuesday 27 February 2024.  The 
Democratic Services Manager reminded all members that those members whose 
term of office expired in May 2024 would not be eligible, in accordance with the 
procedures.  A list of all potential candidates was included.  

 
4.3 The Democratic Services Manager received one response on Saturday 24 February 

from Councillor Ezeifedi, expressing her interest in the role.  Councillor Ezeifedi 
confirmed that Councillor Bell would be nominating her, and Councillor Khan would 
be seconding the nomination.  In addition, Councillor Ezeifedi provided a statement 
to support her nomination which is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 

 
4.4 In accordance with the procedure to elect a Vice Chairman, as only Councillor 

Ezeifedi has been proposed and seconded she will be Vice Chairman for 2024/25 
and then Chairman in 2025/26, as is the custom practice.  Council is therefore asked 
to confirm the appointment. 

 
5.0 Implications 
 
5.1 Financial 
 
5.1.1 The Chief Finance Officer comments that there are no financial implications 

contained in this report. 
 
5.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer) 
 
5.2.1 The Group Head of Democracy and Governance comments that there are no legal 

implications in this report. Council has agreed the procedure for nominating to the 
role of Vice-Chairman. 

 
5.3 Equalities, Human Rights and Data Protection 
 
5.3.1 Nominations were open to all councillors except the Elected Mayor, the current Vice 

Chairman, Councillor Allen-Williamson, and any member whose term of office is due 
to expire in May 2024.  This is to ensure the continuity of the position and to avoid 
having to repeat the process at Annual Council. If a member of the Executive were 
to be appointed, they would be required to step down from the Executive in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.   

Page 14



 
5.4 Staffing 
  
5.4.1 None 
 
5.5 Accommodation 
  
5.5.1 None 
 
5.6 Community Safety/Crime and Disorder 
 
5.6.1 None  
 
5.7 Sustainability 
  
5.7.1 None 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Statement from Councillor Ezeifedi 
Appendix 2 – Procedure to elect Vice Charman from May 2020 
 
Background papers 
 
No papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 

Page 15



Nomination for Vice-Chairman 2024/25 
 
Watford has become a very vibrant and diverse borough in Hertfordshire in recent years. 

Being the Vice-Chairman of Watford Borough Council, therefore, is great privileges for any 

councillor. I seek your support to be the Vice-Chairman of Watford Borough Council for 

2023/24. I bring a unique perspective as a competent black African woman with experience 

in leadership and facilitating meetings across political, professional and voluntary sectors.  I 

have the vision, passion, capacity and experience to motivate, inspire and invigorate public 

engagement in the council’s activities. I am a leader and a trained facilitator. I am a graduate 

of Jo Cox Women in Leadership Programme, the Fabian Women Network Leadership 

programme and NHS Leadership Academy.  I am the deputy group leader of the labour 

group and the Vice Chair of Overview and Scrutiny working across the chambers. 

 

My strong leadership and facilitation skills were demonstrated in leading a delicate and 

sensitive cross-party Task group on the impact of Covid on Watford BAME community and 

Street name policy review at the peak of the COVID 19 pandemic. I was able to collaborate 

effectively with colleagues across political lines whilst negotiating with different stakeholders 

and witnesses through virtual platforms to arrive at recommendations that have been 

accepted across the board.  As an NHS CAMHS service lead, I chair multi-disciplinary and 

multi-agency meeting involving different stakeholders across Hertfordshire. As a clinician, I 

am trained to work methodically and with discipline through an agenda or other similar 

prepared list or document. 

 

Before becoming a councillor, I was a lead social worker for Watford and Three Rivers. I was 

a parent governor of Grove Academy and trustee of the Aspire Academy covering four 

schools around Watford and Hemel Hempstead.  As well as being a local councillor, I am 

well embedded in the community in Watford and very active in Watford African Caribbean 

Association and the One Vision Project. I am the founder and patron of Nigerians in Watford. 

I have been honoured with Community service awards on different aspects of my community 

work over the last year. At the national level, I am a member of the NHS England Taskforce 

on mental health inequality.. I have strong interpersonal and communications skills. I am 

confident in speaking in public settings. I had the privilege of co-facilitating round tables for 

shadow ministers on mental health inequality in 2018. I am a guest lecturer at Brunel 

University London. I speak regularly at Labour regional and national conferences. 

 

It is essential that a Vice-Chairman is competent to command the respect of the town and 

population to be able to bring the community together. I have demonstrable capacity and 

Page 16



experience to do this and to raise the profile of Watford on the national scene. If elected 

Vice-Chairman, I will ensure that I act in a non-political capacity during my term in office and 

especially in council meetings. 

 

I hope you will support my nomination and together we will raise the profile of our town. 

 

Thank you. 

 

 

Favour 

 

Page 17



Procedure to elect Vice Chairman from May 2020 
 
Election of Vice Chairman at Full Council 
 

1. Officers to write to members to ask for nominations for Vice Chairman in 
February. Nominations cannot include the Elected Mayor or the current 
Vice Chairman. 
 

2. Any nominations received accompanied by a personal statement will be 
passed to the Democratic Services Manager for them to contact those 
nominated to confirm they are happy to have their name put forward for 
the role.  Also to confirm that anyone nominated is not up for election in 
the following May. Nominations to be received no later than the 28 
February. 
 

3. At the Full Council meeting in March the Chairman will announce who has 
been nominated and ask for those members (and no others) to be 
formally proposed and seconded. 
 

4. If only one member is proposed and seconded they will be the Vice 
Chairman for the forthcoming municipal year.  
 

5. If more than one member is proposed and seconded then Council will be 
asked to vote for their preferred candidate. The candidate with the most 
votes will be elected as Vice Chairman. If there is a tie in the number of 
votes for first place the Chairman would have the casting vote.  The vote 
will be held by way of secret ballot. 
 

It will continue to be custom and practice that the Vice Chairman will be Chairman in 

the following Municipal Year. 

 

Procedure agreed by Council at its meeting on 19 March 2019 

Page 18



 

   
  

 

PART A 

Report to: Council 

Date of meeting: 12th March 2024 

Report author: Julian Hart 

Report sponsor: 

Portfolio holder: 

Report title: 

Peter Hall, Associate Director Property and Asset Management 

Cllr Mark Watkin 

Allocation of Disposal Proceeds to Acquire TA Properties 

Nature of report: Decision 

 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 As Council will be aware the council is facing increasing demand for temporary 
accommodation. To address increased demand officers have been working with 
Watford Community Housing. The council currently owns properties on Rickmansworth 
Road which are currently being used for temporary accommodation. This is a high value 
area in Watford. Selling two of these properties would raise sufficient funds together 
with funding from Watford Community Housing to acquire five properties elsewhere in 
the Borough for temporary accommodation. Council is therefore asked to agree to 
allocating capital funding of £1.250m to Watford Community Housing for this purpose.   

2. Risks  

Nature of Risk Consequence Control  Response Risk Rating 

The council will 
no longer own the 
TA properties.  

Less control over the 
future properties. 

Tolerate 
A nominations 
agreement is being 
agreed with WCH. 

Low 

The sale of the 
council properties 
does not raise 
sufficient funds 

Either a small 
additional borrowing 
is required or WCH is 
asked to acquire 
fewer additional TA. 

Tolerate 

Contractual 
arrangements with WCH 
to cater for such 
scenarios 

Low 

3. Recommendations 

3.1 That a capital budget of £1.250m is set up to grant fund Watford Community Housing 
to contribute to the purchase of properties in Watford for temporary accommodation. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 11



 

   
  

 

 

Further information: 

Tom Dobrashian, Executive Director of Place 

Tom.dobrashian@watford.gov.uk 

Julian Hart, Senior Regeneration Manager 

julian.hart@watford.gov.uk 

Report approved by:  

Donna Nolan, Chief Executive 

 

4. Detailed Proposal 

4.1 The council owns residential properties on Rickmansworth Road, which are being used 
for temporary accommodation. This is a high value residential area of Watford. There 
is an opportunity to dispose of these properties to release capital, which can be used 
together with funding from Watford Community Housing to acquire more temporary 
accommodation properties elsewhere in Watford, potentially purchasing five 
properties from the sale of two, together with funding from Watford Community 
Housing. 

4.2 This will help address urgent temporary accommodation needs within Watford and 
reduce the current cost of providing B&B accommodation to families in temporary 
accommodation. 

4.3 This proposal has been considered and approved by the Property Investment Board and 
disposal of the existing Rickmansworth properties has been agreed by the Board. The 
capital receipt generated from the disposal is not currently included in the estimate for 
capital receipts to fund the capital programme so this will generate additional capital 
funding.   

4.4 Watford Community Housing is currently actively seeking to purchase properties in 
Watford and the council therefore needs to set up a capital budget to grant fund them 
when the property purchases are completed. It is intended that the funding for this will 
eventually come from the proceeds of sale of the two Rickmansworth Road properties. 
Watford Community Housing has committed to forward fund the purchase of the 
properties and payment will not be made by the council until sale proceeds have been 
received.  Council is asked to approve the capital budget provision of £1.250m for this 
purpose. 

4.5 Watford Community Housing will contribute around £600,000, depending on precise 
purchase price of street properties, to enable this initiative to acquire additional 
temporary accommodation to proceed. 

4.6 Once purchased Watford Community Housing will own, manage and maintain the new 
properties but, by means of a funding and nominations agreement, the council will be 

Page 20



 

   
  

 

able to use them for temporary accommodation purposes. 

5. Implications 

5.1 Financial 

5.1.1 The proposed capital investment will generate revenue savings through reducing costs 
within the council’s temporary accommodation budget as a result of increasing 
availability of temporary accommodation.   

5.1.2 The transfer of money to Watford Community Housing will be through a capital grant, 
underpinned by a grant agreement which will include nomination rights.  Council is 
asked to agree inclusion of the capital expenditure budget of £1.250m within the 
council’s Capital Programme. As this should be fully funded by the capital receipt 
generated by the disposal of the two existing properties on Rickmansworth Road, this 
will not increase the council’s Capital Financing Requirement or incur borrowing costs.   

5.1.3 The sale proceeds from the two Rickmansworth properties are expected to exceed the 
total grant of £1.250m.  However, there is a small risk that the proceeds will be lower 
than the £1.250m grant allocation.  If this occurs, the balance would be met from 
prudential borrowing.  This would incur revenue costs, however, these will be minimal 
in comparison to the cost to the council’s revenue budget of not re-providing the 
existing temporary accommodation and creating additional capacity.  

5.1.4 If the capital receipt exceeds £1.250m, the balance will be available to fund the existing 
capital programme, reducing planned borrowing and associated revenue costs, or to be 
allocated to other invest to save opportunities in relation to managing revenue budget 
pressures, including those relating to temporary accommodation.      

5.2 Legal issues (Monitoring Officer) 

5.2.1 Whilst the Portfolio Holder for Resources has the delegated authority at Property 
Investment Board to approve the disposal of the Rickmansworth Road properties 
council has to agree the grant funding to Watford Community Housing as it was not in 
the capital programme approved by Council on 30 January 2024. The council will enter 
into a funding and nomination agreement with Watford Community Housing to ensure 
the council has continued use of the acquired properties for temporary 
accommodation. 

6. Equalities, Human Rights and Data Protection 

6.1 Under s149 (1) of the Equality Act the council must have due regard, in the exercise of 
its functions, to the need to – 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share them 

 foster good relations between persons who share relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share them. 

Page 21



 

   
  

 

6.2 Having had regard to the council’s obligations under the Equality Act, it is considered 
that officers are not required to undertake an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) for 
this report. 

6.3 Having had regard to the council’s obligations under the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 2018, it is considered that officers are not required to undertake a 
Data Processing Impact Assessment (DPIA) for this report. 

7. Staffing 

7.1 This decision will marginally reduce resource requirements as future ownership, 
management and maintenance of the TA properties will be the responsibility of 
Watford Community Housing. 

8. Accommodation 

8.1 There are no accommodation implications associated with these recommendations. 

9. Community Safety/Crime and Disorder 

9.1 No implications. 

10. Sustainability 

10.1 Not applicable. 

Appendices 
None 

Background papers 

No papers were used in the preparation of this report. 

 

 

Page 22



Part A  
 
Report to:  Full Council  
 
Date of meeting: 12 March 2024 
 
Report author: Executive Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
 
Title:   Council Pay Policy Statement – April 2024   
 

 
1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 The Council’s success relies on the talent and contribution of its workforce enabling and 

ensuring it meets its objectives.  The Council’s Pay Policy Statement seeks to ensure the 
Council is able to attract, recruit, retain and engage the right people in order to achieve this.   
 

1.2 The Pay Policy Statement pulls together all the elements that make up the Council’s financial 
reward practices.  It provides assurances of our consistency, fairness and transparency and 
gives clarity to all our stakeholders about how and what our people are rewarded for.   It 
defines the level and elements of remuneration for Chief Officers in accordance with the 
requirements of section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011.   
 

1.3 The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to publish its position on 1 April each year in 
relation to specific areas of chief officers pay as follows: - remuneration levels, all other 
payments, incremental progression, performance related pay, bonus payments, 
redundancy, severance/ compensation, and retirement payments, and the Council’s policy 
on the re-engagement of chief officers.  In the event that a council wishes to change these 
during the course of the year to which the Pay Policy Statement relates the statement must 
be revised and approved by a full council meeting. 
 

1.4 The recommendation of the Hutton Report into “Fair Pay in the Public Sector” as recognised 
by the Government in the Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities on Data 
Transparency, was that a pay ratio of the salary of the Chief Executive compared to the 
median average salary in the organisation should be published.  This is set out in Section 18 
of the Pay Policy Statement, which shows the ratio to be 1:3.5.  The Council does not have a 
policy on maintaining or reaching a specific pay multiple but is conscious of the need to 
ensure that the salary of the highest paid employee is not excessive but is consistent with 
the needs of the Council as expressed in this policy statement. 
 

1.5 The Hutton report raised concerns about multiples in the order of 1:20 or higher between 
the lowest and highest paid employees in local authorities.  Including apprenticeships, the 
lowest earnings in the Council are £18,876, giving a ratio with the highest paid officer of 
1:7.8.  Excluding apprenticeship posts, the lowest earnings in the Council are £26,873 giving 
a ratio with the highest paid officer of 1:5.5. 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 12



1.6 The lowest pay band on the pay model (Band 1) is not in use by Watford Borough Council 
whose lowest remunerated post is within Band 4 paying £13.93 per hour excluding LW.  This 
is above the real living wage of £12.00 per hour for 2023/24. 
 

2.0 Risks 
 
2.1  

Nature of risk Consequence Suggested Control 
Measures 

Response 
(treat, 
tolerate, 
terminate 
or 
transfer) 

Risk Rating 
(combination 
of severity 
and 
likelihood) 

Council does 
not fulfil 
requirements 
of Localism 
Act 2011 in 
publishing the 
pay policy 

Localism Act not 
complied with 

The Council Pay 
Policy Statement is 
published 

treat 2 

 
3.0 Recommendations 
 
3.1 That Council approve the Council Pay Policy Statement for 2023/24. 
 
 Further information: 
 For further information on this report please contact: Lee Pound, Interim Executive Head of 

Human Resources and Organisational Development: telephone extension: 8133 email: 
lee.pound@watford.gov.uk 

 
 Report approved by: Lee Pound 
 
4.0 Implications 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
4.1.1 The Shared Director of Finance comments:- 
 
 There are no financial implications. 
 
4.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer) 
 
4.2.1 The Group Head of Democracy and Governance comments:-  
 
 The Group Head of Democracy and Governance comments that it is a legal requirement for 

council to consider and publish its pay policy annually preceding the financial year to which 
it relates. 

 
 

Page 24



4.3 Equalities, Human Rights and Data Protection 
 
4.3.1 There are no implications. 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Council Pay Policy Statement - 01 April 2024 

Page 25



Appendix A 
    

Watford Borough Council                                                                                                                  Human Resources 

Draft  2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
     
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL PAY POLICY STATEMENT 
April 2024 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
1.0     Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council’s success relies on the talent and contribution of its workforce enabling and ensuring it 

meets its objectives.  Our Pay Policy seeks to ensure the Council is able to attract, recruit, retain and 
engage the right people in order to achieve this.   

 
1.2 The Pay Policy pulls together all the elements that make up the Council’s reward practices.  It provides 

assurances of our consistency, fairness and transparency and gives clarity to all our stakeholders about 
how and what our people are rewarded for.   It defines the level and elements of remuneration for Chief 
Officers, and all senior staff, in accordance with the requirements of section 38(1) of the Localism Act 
2011.   

 
1.3 The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to publish its position in relation to specific areas of chief 

officers pay as follows : - remuneration levels, all other payments, incremental progression, 
performance related pay, bonus payments, redundancy, severance/ compensation, and retirement 
payments, and the Council’s policy on the re-engagement of chief officers.  This Pay Policy statement 
sets out the Council’s position in these areas. 

 
1.4 The Council employs 235 officers, which represents a full time equivalent based on a 37-hour week of 

212.35. 
 
1.5 The gross salary expenditure for the Council for the financial year 2024/25 is estimated to be 

£14,484,490.   
 
1.6 Best practice recommends the Council consults a remuneration committee on all proposals relating to 

pay and reward for Senior Officers thus ensuring openness and accountability.  This responsibility is 
delegated by Full Council to the Council Functions Committee and Chief Officer Pay Panel. 

 
1.7 This policy will be reviewed and approved at least annually or as required by Full Council and may be 

accessed via the Council’s external web site. 
 
2.0 SCOPE OF THE POLICY 
 
2.1 The policy applies to all Chief Officers. 
 
2.2 The definition of Chief Officers (as set out in section (43(2)) of the Localism Act 2011 is not restricted to 

Heads of Paid Service and Directors.  It also includes all other Senior Managers (statutory and non-
statutory officers) who report directly to them and to their direct reports termed as Deputy Chief 
Officers.  That is the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Executive Director/Director/Executive Head 
of Service and Associate Directors of Service. 

 
2.3 The Council’s post holders who fall within the definition of Chief Officers are as defined within the 

Councils Constitution and are shown in the following table: 
  

Page 27



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Section 151 Officer Chief Finance Officer (seconded by Three Rivers 
District Council) 

Chief Officers - 
Executive Director/Director/Executive Head 
of Service 

- Executive Director of Place 
- Director of Performance and Partnerships 
- Executive Head of Human Resources and         
Organisation Development  

Deputy Chief Officers - 
Associate Directors  

- Associate Director of ICT and Shared Services 
- Associate Director of Customer and Corporate  
Services  
- Associate Director of Housing and Wellbeing 
- Associate Director of Planning, Infrastructure and 
Economy  
- Associate Director of Property and Asset 
Management 
- Associate Director of Environment and 
Communities 
- Monitoring Officer* 

*The Monitoring Officer role is currently occupied by the Group Head of Democracy and 

Governance but is expected to be  an addition to one of the above posts on an honorarium basis 

when it becomes vacant from June 2024. 

See organisation structure chart and role profiles in appendix 1. 
 
2.4 The remuneration of the Executive Director/Director/Executive Head of Service was determined by the 

Chief Officer Pay Panel in June 2022 and that of the Chief Executive in 2019/20 when recruiting to the 
post.   

 
2.5 The Council’s Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer is directly employed by Three Rivers District 

Council and remunerated in accordance with the Shared Services, Head of Service pay band and is also 
in receipt of an honorarium payment in respect of these duties. 

 
2.6 Pay bands are attached as Appendices 2 and 3. 
 
3.0 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 
 
3.1 The Council’s Chief Officers, i.e. the Chief Executive and Executive Director/ Director/Executive Head of 

Service are engaged on Joint National Council (JNC) national terms and conditions of service.   
 
3.2 The Council’s Deputy Chief Officers, i.e. the Associate Directors, who report directly to an Executive 

Director/Director are engaged on National Joint Council (NJC) national terms and conditions.  The 
Council’s Chief Finance Officer is also engaged on National Joint Council (NJC) terms and conditions and 
remunerated as noted in paragraph 2.5 above. 

 
3.3 It should be noted that different national negotiating machinery applies across the senior management 

team. 
 
4.0 PRINCIPLES 
 
4.1 The Pay Policy reflects the aspirations of the Council Plan and Council Delivery Plan 2022-2026 and 

defines the Council’s approach to managing reward that is guided by the following principles:- 
 

Page 28



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

4.2 All Council officer jobs are job evaluated using an analytical job evaluation scheme to allocate points to 
posts and establish relativity between all posts in the organisation. 

 
4.3 The Council reviews appropriate external pay market information to ensure remuneration levels are 

consistent with Local Government, provide value for money for the taxpayer, and support the Council 
to remain competitive as an employer in areas of skills shortage. 

 
4.4 If appropriate, market factors are applied to hard to fill posts.  Where applied these supplements are 

reviewed annually in accordance with the market factor policy. 
 
4.5 The Chief Executive receives a spot salary the level of which was reviewed in 2020.   
 
4.6 Cost of living inflation increases for the Chief Executive and Chief Officer pay scales are awarded in 

accordance with the Joint National Council (JNC) for Chief Executives and the Joint National Council 
(JNC) for Chief Officers. Chief Officers are remunerated according to the pay scale applicable to their 
job. Progression within each grade is time based, subject to satisfactory performance and where 
appropriate awarded annually to the top of the grade, effective from 1 April (see appendix 2).  

 
4.7        Cost of living inflation increases for Deputy Chief Officers, i.e. Associate Directors of Service, are 

awarded in accordance with the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Authorities.  Deputy Chief Officers 
are remunerated according to the pay scale applicable to their job. Progression within each grade is 
time based, subject to satisfactory performance and where appropriate awarded annually to the top of 
the grade, effective from 1 April (see appendix 2). 

 
4.8        The remuneration of a Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer on appointment will be at a point on the 

relevant pay scale for the job appropriate to their experience and salary level in their previous job.  
 
4.9       It is not the policy of the Council to award bonuses to its Chief Officers.  However, due to the extreme 

difficulty in filling the Associate Director of Property and Asset Management, a bonus payment is paid 
to this post as an exceptional case. 

 
4.10    The Council is committed to the principle of fairness; is clear about what people are being paid for, and 

is consistent, systematic, and transparent when applying reward practices.  Pay models have been 
developed based upon appropriate pay market information and ensure that the ratio of pay levels 
between the highest paid officer and the median/ mean average/ low paid earnings in the Council 
remains consistent and is not distorted as a result of pay awards. 

 
4.11      The Council’s lowest paid employees are those post holders whose jobs are graded in the lowest pay 

band, which is Band 4 in a 14 band pay model.   Jobs are evaluated using the Local Government Job 
Evaluation scheme.    

 
4.12      Resignation. The Chief Officer’s last entitlement to pay will be the last day of service, considering notice 

period and any period of pay in lieu of notice.  
 

Redundancy or early termination in the interests of the service and Pension Benefits of Chief Officers 
will be made in accordance with the Council’s Redundancy and Early retirement and early termination 
compensation policies however please see paragraph 9.6 below.   

 
5.0 EQUALITIES 
 
5.1 The Council is committed to equality of opportunity.  All members of staff will be treated fairly based 

on ability, performance, and contribution irrespective of their employment or contractual status and 
personal circumstances, i.e. part time, fixed term.  The Council monitors equalities data and this policy 

Page 29



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

shall be applied fairly, consistently, and equitably for all employees irrespective of race, gender, 
disability, age, offending past, caring or dependency status, religion or belief, sexual orientation, marital 
or civil partnership status, pregnancy or maternity or gender identity and it is incumbent on those 
managing this policy to ensure that this is the case. 

 
6.0 GRADING 
 
6.1 Chief Officers – Chief Executive and Executive Director/Director/Executive Head of Service 
 
6.2 Job Evaluation – posts were assessed on data received relating to the external recruitment market and 

in conjunction with guidance received from the East of England LGA with regard to the Senior Manager 
job evaluation scheme. 

 
6.3 Deputy Chief Officers – Associate Directors of Service 
 
6.4 Job evaluation - posts were assessed on data received regarding the external recruitment market, in 

conjunction with guidance received from the East of England LGA and considering the council’s job 
evaluation scheme, ensuring relativity between all Council posts covered by NJC terms and conditions.  

 
6.5 Pay model - The pay model is presented in appendix 3. 
 
6.6 Labour market information – Comparative East of England Local Authority pay information, Croner 

Reward Job Evaluation system, Croner Market Pay analysis for Public Services and Infinistats provides 
the source of comparative pay information when there is a requirement for a role to be reviewed for 
example when it is hard to fill or are in areas of skills shortages within the council and are reviewed 
annually.  There are currently no Market supplements applying to Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer 
roles, although as noted in paragraph 4.9 above, a bonus payment is paid to the Associate Director of 
Property and Asset Management as an exceptional case.   

 
6.7 All other posts in the Council 
 
6.8 All other officer posts are job evaluated using the Local Government Job Evaluation Scheme (LGJES) and 

graded within one of the pay Bands in the 14 grades pay model in Appendix 3.  No Council post is graded 
below Band 4, and the minimum pay for Band 4 is £25,119 plus £988 London weighting allowance, (see 
8.1 below).  Where appropriate posts attract a market supplement, and the market forces payments 
policy should be consulted for further information.  

 
6.9 Market factor supplements apply to the following non-Chief Officer posts in the Council.  
 

- Building Control Officer (TUPE Shared Services) 

- Building Control Surveyor (TUPE Shared Services) 

- Compliance and Maintenance Officer 

- Economic Development Manager 

- Economic Development Officer 

- Infrastructure and IT Security Manager 

- Programme Manager 

- Senior Infrastructure Engineer 

- Senior Projects Manager 

- Senior Regeneration Manager 

- Senior Transport and Infrastructure Projects Manager 

- Traffic Regulation Order Manager 

Page 30



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
7.0 INCREMENTS 
 
7.1 Posts receive annual time-based increments effective on 1 April until remuneration reaches the top of 

the grade. 
 
7.2 On appointment, all posts will normally be remunerated at the lowest incremental spinal column point 

within the grade, (unless 4.8 applies above). 
 
7.3 The Council will apply the annual cost of living percentage increment as negotiated by the NJC national 

agreement to the values of incremental spinal column points as appropriate.  At the time of writing this 
statement the April 2024 pay award has yet to be agreed. 

 
8.0 ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS 
 
8.1 Local Weighting (LW) – is the inner fringe London Weighting Allowance and is negotiated as part of the 

national framework.  LW is an additional payment that is made to officers in the Council, and the rate is 
negotiated nationally by NJC.  

 
8.2 The Head of Paid Service receives additional payment for duties as Clerk to the West Herts Crematorium 

Joint Committee, and fees for Returning Officer duties during elections as and when appropriate.    
 
9.0  LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (LGPS) 
 
9.1 All officers are eligible to join and contribute to the Local Government Pension Scheme.  Officer 

contribution rates are a percentage of their earnings.  Levels of contribution are stated by the scheme 
and are based on the whole-time equivalent value of all contractual pay excluding any travel allowance 
payments.  The employer’s contribution to the scheme is 19.1%. 

 
9.2 The table below provides the proposed Member contribution table for 2023/24. 
 

Pay Bands Contribution Rates 

Up to £16,500 5.5% 

£16,501 - £25,900 5.8% 

£25,901 - £42,100 6.5% 

£42,101 - £53,300 6.8% 

£53,301 - £74,700 8.5% 

£74,701 - £105,900 9.9% 

£105.901 - £124,800 10.5% 

£124,801 to £187,200 11.4% 

Over £187,201 12.5% 

 
9.3 The normal retirement age for the LGPS is State Pension Age, or age 65 (whichever is the higher). 
 
9.4 With the exception of early retirement for the reason of permanent ill health (to which no age 

restrictions apply), the earliest age an officer can retire and receive pension benefits is 55. 
 
9.5 Early retirement may be granted in the following circumstances: 
 
 Early termination of employment for the reason of redundancy 
 On ill health grounds 
 On compassionate grounds 
       Efficiency of the service 

Page 31



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Request to go. 
                         
9.6 The Council’s Redundancy, early retirement and early termination compensation, pension discretions 

policy should be consulted as appropriate for further information.  
 
10.0 REDUNDANCY 
 
10.1 In the event of redundancy, i.e. where a post to be vacated would not be replaced, the Council pays a 

discretionary redundancy payment by applying a 2.2 multiplier to each week’s redundancy pay, thus 
providing up to a maximum of 66 weeks’ pay based on contractual pay.   

 
10.2 Officers aged 55 and above will retire in this circumstance and have access to their accrued pension 

benefit. 
 
10.3 The Council does not augment additional pension membership; however, the Officer may elect to 

purchase additional LGPS pension membership with the discretionary payment.  Full details are 
specified in the Council’s Redundancy policy, and this should be accessed for full details.   

 
11.0 EARLY RETIREMENT FOR THE REASON OF ILL HEALTH 
 
11.1 To qualify an officer must be confirmed by the Council’s Medical Adviser as being permanently unable 

of discharging the duties of their employment because of ill health or infirmity and have a reduced 
likelihood of obtaining gainful employment before reaching normal pension age. 

 
12.0 EARLY RETIREMENT ON COMPASSIONATE GROUNDS 
 
12.1 To qualify an officer would have to have a compelling hardship or difficulty that would most usually be 

due to caring responsibilities. 
 
13.0 SEVERANCE – EARLY TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT IN THE INTEREST OF EFFICIENCY TO THE 

SERVICE.   
 
13.1 There may be situations that are initiated by management to facilitate organisational change where a 

post to be vacated would be replaced.  The Early Retirement and Early Termination Compensation policy 
applies and should be consulted. 

 
13.2 Where appropriate, the Council will make a discretionary severance/ compensation payment by 

applying a 2.2 multiplier to each week’s severance pay, thus providing up to a maximum of 66 weeks’ 
pay based on contractual pay. 

 
13.3 Officers aged 55 and above will retire in this circumstance and have access to their accrued pension 

benefit.   
 
13.4 The Council does not augment additional pension membership; however, the Officer may elect to 

purchase additional LGPS pension membership with the discretionary payment.  Full details are 
specified in the Council’s redundancy policy, and this should be accessed for full details.   

 
14.0  EARLY PAYMENT OF PENSION BENEFITS ON REQUEST TO LEAVE  
 (ASK TO GO) 
 
14.1 Criteria 
 

Page 32



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

Initiated by the employee who must be aged 55 or above.  Employee submits a written request to the 
Executive Director/Director/Executive Head of Service stating grounds and case for consideration and 
first approval The Executive Director /Director/Executive Head of Service and Executive Head of Human 
Resources and Organisation Development will then submit a report for approval by the Chief Executive.   
  
The rationale for agreement will include improvement in organisational efficiency e.g. needs of job, new 
skills required, need to work in different ways, improved productivity. 

  
An assessment of the strain on the pension fund in relation to the benefit obtained by the Council will 
be conducted.  The strain cost would normally need to be recovered within 2 years of the retirement. 
The post will be replaced. 

 
14.2 Benefits 
 Under 55   

 Not available 
 

Over 55  

 Actuarially reduced accrued pension benefits 

 No added years are awarded by the Council. 
 

Employees can elect to retire and receive pension benefits from age 55, but there are no added years 
awarded and accrued pension benefits are actuarially reduced. 

  
The Early Retirement and Early Termination Compensation policy applies and should be consulted. 

 
15.0 FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT 
 
15.1 This is subject to agreement by the Council, providing an option for an officer to continue in employment 

post Local Government Pension Scheme retirement age and to take some or all of their Local 
Government Pension that is due to them whilst continuing to work on reduced hours or reduced pay.  
The benefit for the Council is the ability to retain skills, knowledge, and experience.  

 
15.2 An abatement of pension may apply if the pay for the new post plus the LGPS pension they receive 

exceeds the value of the salary for the post from which they retired.  Local Pensions Partnership 
Administration  (LPPA) should be consulted for advice. 

 
The Early Retirement and Early Termination Compensation policy and flexible retirement policy applies 
and should be consulted. 

 
16.0 RE-EMPLOYMENT POST SEVERANCE OR REDUNDANCY 
 
16.1 The re-employment of officers who were granted early retirement, are receiving their Local 

Government pension, or have received a severance/ compensation payment, or a redundancy payment 
is discouraged.  The following criteria should be considered.  Refer to the Council’s policy for early 
retirement/ early termination compensation for further information. 

 

 What is the nature of the work to be undertaken? 

 How similar is the work to that formally undertaken by the individual? 

 Is it work that the individual could have been redeployed to? 

 The work should be a specific project or task where the skills/ knowledge set required is unique to 
that individual. 

 The work should be such that it could not be undertaken by anyone else currently employed in the 
Council. 

Page 33



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
17.0 OFFICERS WHO HAVE RETIRED AND ARE IN RECEIPT OF PENSION 
 
17.1 If an officer is in receipt of their Local Government Pension and returns to work for the Council an 

abatement of their pension may apply if the pay for the new post plus the LGPS pension they receive 
exceeds the value of the salary for the post from which they retired.  LPPA should be consulted for 
advice. 

 
17.2 Flexible retirement subject to agreement by the Council provides an option for an officer to continue in 

employment post-retirement age and to take some or all their pension working on reduced hours or 
reduced pay.  The flexible retirement policy should be accessed for full information. 

 
18.0 PAY RELATIVITY AND LOWER PAID STAFF 
 
18.1 The Council is committed to the principle of fairness when setting pay levels for all officers.   All jobs 

below Chief Officer are job evaluated meaning each has an analytical score providing its relative value 
in the organisation and each job is linked to a defined pay model.   

 
18.2 The Council defines its lowest paid staff as those whose posts are graded on the lowest grade in the pay 

model.  Pay rates are based on whole time equivalent salaries. 
 
18.3 Including apprenticeship posts, the mean average earnings in the Council are £40,7385 giving a ratio 

with the highest paid officer of 1:3.6. The median earnings in the Council are £41,418 giving a ratio with 
the highest paid officer of 1:3.5. Including apprenticeships, the lowest earnings in the Council are 
£18,876, giving a ratio with the highest paid officer of 1:7.8.  Excluding apprenticeship posts, the lowest 
earnings in the Council are  £26,873 giving a ratio with the highest paid officer of 1:5.5. 

 
18.4 The lowest pay band on the pay model (Band 1) is not in use by Watford Borough Council whose lowest 

remunerated post is within Band 4 paying £13.93 per hour excluding LW.  This is above the real living 
wage of £12.00 per hour for 2023/24. 

 
18.5 Cost of living pay increases in the Council are awarded consistently in line with those negotiated 

nationally by NJC.  An analysis of pay awards for the previous 5 years is provided at Appendix 4. 
 

Page 34



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

Appendix 1 
 
 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

Associate Director of 
Property & Asset 

Management

Associate Director of 
Customer & 

Corporate Services

Associate Director of 
ICT & Shared Services

Associate Director of 
Planning, 

Infrastructure & 
Economy

Associate Director of 
Environment & 
Communities

Director of Performance 
& Partnerships

Monitoring Officer Executive Head of 
HR & OD

Associate Director of 
Housing & Wellbeing

Chief Finance Officer & 
Section 151 Officer

Executive Director of 
Place

Chief Executive

 

Page 35



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Job Title: Chief Executive 

Service/ Department: Corporate Services 

Salary band: Chief Executive Band 

Purpose of Role:  

Work with the Elected Mayor to provide effective leadership to the Council, developing and ensuring 
delivery of the Council’s vision and objectives.  

Take overall responsibility for the effective management of the Council’s resources, ensuring efficient, 
effective, and high-quality service delivery is provided.  

Working with the Elected Mayor to lead the Council’s strategic partnership working, engaging with 
stakeholders to support a sustainable, prosperous town.  

To sustain a bold and progressive culture, embedding a customer focused, digitally enabled, and 
commercially minded approach across all of the council’s function. 

Key Accountabilities: 

 Supporting the delivery of the mayor’s and the council’s strategies and policies 

 Assuring understanding, acceptance, and support for the Mayor’s Executive role 

 Transacting the Mayor’s, Cabinet and Council decisions 

 Advising the Mayor and Members 

 Ensuring the effective delivery of the Council’s various projects through Programme Management, 
objective setting for senior Leadership Team and reviews with key stakeholders. 

 Managing the Officer/Member/Political interface 

 Aligning corporate values with Political direction 

 Aligning strategic direction, corporate planning, and resource allocation 

 Budget strategy and delivery of agreed budget 

 Leading Structural and Cultural change 

 Engaging with Strategic Partnerships 

 Ensuring effective performance management 

 Ensuring effective personal communication – up, down, and outwards. 

Management: 

 All duties and responsibilities as defined in Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
(1989)   

 Delivering the Mayoral and Cabinet objectives through the Leadership  Team 

 Articulating the Mayor and Cabinet agenda in corporate and service objectives 

 Providing managerial leadership to the Leadership Team  

 Alignment of cross-cutting programs with substantive plans 

Job Description / Person Specification 

Page 36



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Management of Executive Directors/Executive Heads of Service – Appraisals/PDRS, Agreement of 
objectives, Reviewing performance 

Personal attributes: 

 Able to work constructively and effectively both internally and externally.  

 Able to lead by example. 

 Able to promote  Watford 

 Able to enhance Watford’s influence locally, regionally, and  nationally 

 Ably to articulate a vision on how the Council’s services can be better configured, embracing 
modern ways of working 

Key Relationships: 

 The Elected Mayor and Members 

 Executive Directors/Executive Heads of Service 

 Associate Directors of Service and senior leadership team 

 External partners and stakeholders 

 Peers in other Local Authorities within Hertfordshire, including Hertfordshire County Council and  Herts 
CEO group and other Local Authorities regionally and nationally 

Important Notes Relating to Duties:  

In dealing with any form of contract or tendering procedures on behalf of the councils, the holder 
of this post is personally responsible for ensuring that s/he:- 

 Is familiar with the relevant requirements of the Council’s constitution, Contracts 
procedures, Rules and Financial Procedure Rules, Officer Code of Conduct and other 
management guidance that may be given from time to time. 

 Complies with these formal requirements and related procedures; and 

 Seeks advice from the Head of Democracy & Governance or an officer with specialism in the 
subject area if in any doubt about the proper course of action. 

 
 

Person Specification 

Knowledge/Skills:   

 Relevant professional and/or post graduate management qualification 

 Detailed knowledge of a number of specialist areas within local government.  

 Detailed knowledge of legislation governing local authority activities, including contracts and 
procurement/tendering 

 Ability to develop effective strategic partnerships to enable the council to achieve its objectives. 

 Ability to influence and persuade a wide range of audiences on complex, sensitive and contentious 
matters. 

 Commercial nous to advise on long term investments and major financial deals. 
 

Experience 

 Senior Local Government experience (minimum of 5 years at Chief Officer or equivalent) 

 Extensive experience of public sector service delivery, both directly and via commissioning 

 Experience of working with a wide range of partner organisations and professionals to deliver 
outcomes.  

 Experience of presenting effectively and persuasively to diverse audiences 

 Experience of delivering services through Joint Ventures 

Page 37



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Experience of collaborative working with businesses and the third sector to enhance service delivery 

ICT/Technical Expertise 

 Strategic understanding of the application of ICT to local government operations 

 Good working knowledge of Microsoft Office applications 

Personal Qualities 

 Personal and professional credibility 

 Capacity to build effective relationships with partner organizations and stakeholders. 

 Political sensitivity 

 Capacity to work outside office hours and manage a demanding workload 

 

Politically Restricted Posts 

Under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended), posts that are either specified under that 
Act or posts that are defined as sensitive under the Act because the post holder is required to either give 
advice on a regular basis to the executive or any committee of the Council, or speak on behalf of the Council 
on a regular basis to journalists or broadcasters are ‘Politically Restricted’.  This means that the post holder 
is restricted in terms of public political activity. For further information about this please contact Human 
Resources. 

This post is a Specified Post and is politically restricted. 

Job Share: 

Job Share will not be considered for this post. 

Equal Opportunities: 

The Council fully supports the terms of The Equality Act 2010. We are an equal opportunities employer and 
do not discriminate on any grounds. We want a diverse workforce which reflects our community and 
welcome applications from everyone regardless of age, disability, sex, race, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy, and maternity and marital or civil partnership status. 

We are also committed to improving opportunities for people with disabilities and are a registered 
‘Disability Confident’ employer. If you have a disability and demonstrate that you fulfil the essential person 
specification criteria for the role on your application form, you will be invited for an interview. If you feel 
that you could carry out this post with some adjustments, please let us know.  If you require arrangements 
made for interview etc. (e.g. signing, access), please indicate this on your application form. 

 

Job description: Name  Date 

Written by (Manager) Manny Lewis Feb 2019 

Reviewed by (Human Resources) Terry Baldwin Feb 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
 
 

Job Title: 
 
Post Number: 

Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer 
 
RG0501 

 JE Ref: 
A2328 

Service/ Department: Finance Section:      

Salary band: Head of Service 

Location: You will normally be based at Three Rivers House, Rickmansworth or any 
such other place of employment within the remit of Finance Services as 
may be required. 

Hours per week: 37 hours per week.   The post holder is expected to work the hours 
required to meet the demands of the role. 

Driving Licence requirement: The post holder will be expected to travel to achieve the requirements 
of the role. 

Payment Allowance: Inner Fringe Weighting allowance 

Responsible to: Joint Committee and reporting to Director of Finance 

Responsible for: Entire Finance Service for Three Rivers District and Watford Borough 
Councils 

 
PLACE IN ORGANISATION CHART OF DEPARTMENT: 
 

 
Director of 

Finance 
(Shared Service)

37

 
Head of Finance
Head of Service

37

 
Fraud Manager

Band 10
37

 
Section Head - 
Accountancy 

(FP&A)
Band 11

37

 
Section Head - 
Accountancy 

(FA&T)
Band 11

37
 

 
 

 

Purpose of Role: 

 To lead, promote and implement the self service vision for the Finance Service and set up the 
Finance policies, systems and processes in a way that meets the needs of both organisations.  

 To identify, deliver and manage the expectations of the Finance customers on an ongoing basis and 
enable councils to make the best use of their financial resources and meet their objectives. 

 To lead the effective and efficient delivery of the service to agreed SLAs and KPIs together with 
associated service reporting, managing the wider Financial agenda at management boards, the 
programme board and the Joint Committee; 

 To lead and manage the Finance service so that it is consistently providing a first class Finance service 
that is efficient, effective, customer and delivery focused and resilient  

 To define and lead the delivery of the future strategy and development of the Finance Service; 
 

Job Description   

Page 39



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

Key Accountabilities: 
Service Delivery 

 Take the strategic lead for the delivery of a first class Finance Service that provides value for money 
and supports partnering councils to achieve their short term priorities and longer term strategic 
vision and objectives. 

 Lead the negotiation and delivery of Service Level Agreements and ensuring that SLAs are achieved 
to a high standard, taking corrective action in line with agreed strategies and plans. 

 Lead the annual operational planning process for the Finance Service, document and communicate 
plans, support updates as required and conduct metric-based progress reviews. 

 
Continuous Improvement 

 Ensure the service delivery is planned and Finance’s performance is monitored effectively, that 
service level agreements are achieved to a high standard, areas for improvement are identified and 
actioned according to agreed strategies and plans.   

 Demonstrate continuous improvement in service delivery by innovative practices, policies, processes 
and technology.  Add value to customers’ performance.   

 
Working in teams 

 Establish an effective management and operational team for the service who are clear about service 
priorities and enabling them to contribute to service delivery.   

 
Communication and Customer Engagement 

 Encourage and enable the embedding of efficient financial practices within the Finance Service and 
new ways of working across the councils, engaging with customers to review satisfaction and 
practices and involving them in development of Finance policies and practices.   

 

Responsibilities 

 People and Organisation Management -  

 Manage, develop and motivate a team of Finance professionals coaching them as required on 
financial practices, allocating and delegating work and effectively managing their performance. 

 Consult with Directors, Heads of Services and other managers to validate decisions and plans and 
provide regular, accurate and timely reports to the Management boards of both Councils as required. 

 Build effective and positive relationships with  internal and external stakeholders as appropriate 
clearly communicating Financial priorities to both councils and to Finance Services team.  

 Contribute effectively and positively to cross-service teams and projects. 
 

 Finance and budgetary control – include values of budget and level of authority involvement/ 
accountability – payment or fund raising activities 

 Establish, monitor and control the budget for the service, including developing the annual budget.  

 Ensure overall compliance with financial procedures and regulations. 

 Identify, assess and, where appropriate, monitor risks. 

 Design and implement aligned Finance strategies to ensure value for money, effective use of 
resources and excellent service delivery. 

 Ensure that third party resources are used effectively to deliver financial services solutions where 
required and that the performance of these third parties is effectively managed and monitored. 

 Premises, equipment or information – buildings, vehicles, plant and stock and value of assets, level 
of accountability and authority 
 Professional direction, decision making and authorization of expenditure in relation to Finance 

service staff in all aspects of people, policy, process, system and financial matters  
 Accountable for budget, staff and stakeholder management.   

Page 40



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Representing services at both Watford Borough Council and Three Rivers District Council in 
relation to Finance matters, including corporate Finance strategy and Finance policy 
development; 

 Finance Professional lead. 
 

Key Performance Indicators: 
This role is responsible for the delivery of; 

 Financial KPIs according to electronically recorded service data and survey responses from customer 
departments, including Customer satisfaction during service transition and post implementation of 
transformed services. 

 Programme schedule and budget (e.g. costs and savings as per budget). 

 Service improvements as agreed with the Joint Committee and annual councils service plans 

 Contribute to achieving IIP and Charter Mark (or its successor). 
 

Key Relationships: 

 Members and lead members of partnering authorities  

 Directors and Heads of Service at both councils 

 Section 151 officers 

 Budget Managers  

 Auditors 

 Local government networks  
 

Important Notes Relating to Duties:  
In dealing with any form of contract or tendering procedures on behalf of the councils, the holder of this 
post is personally responsible for ensuring that she/he:- 

- Is familiar with the relevant requirements of the Council’s constitution, Contracts procedures, 
Rules and Financial Procedure Rules, Officer Code of Conduct and other management guidance 
that may be given from time to time; 

- Complies with these formal requirements and related procedures; and 
- Seeks advice from a more senior officer or an officer with specialism in subject area if in any 

doubt about the proper course of action. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PERSON SPECIFICATION  
This section presents the knowledge, skills, experience, personal qualities and qualifications that are 
considered essential for a person being deployed to this role. 

Knowledge/skills/qualifications:   
 Qualified CCAB Accountant (preferably CIPFA). 

 Knowledge of Finance theory and practice, and the skills to adopt Finance service management best 
practice.  

 Knowledge and skills in relation to local government financial regulations and requirements  

 Strong business awareness/knowledge in relation to operational management and alignment to 
strategic objectives. 

 Change Management skills to introduce changes and improvements to service  

 Knowledge of e-capabilities for Finance services; 

Page 41



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Sufficient knowledge and understanding of Insurance, Payroll Accounting, Internal Audit and Fraud 
(Benefits and Corporate) to ensure effective service delivery and continuous improvement.   

 Sufficient knowledge and understanding Value Added Tax to ensure compliance with legislation and 
advantageous opportunities are explored. 

 

Experience 
 Extensive experience of running a Finance Service in a complex organisation.  
 At least 5 years CCAB post qualification experience.  
 Senior management and Finance experience with a proven track record of supporting complex 

improvement programmes, and developing and implementing innovative financial solutions at an 
operational, tactical and strategic level within a complex environment.  

 Experience of managing staff within a transition situation, and in an operationally-demanding, 
service and outcomes focused environment. 

 Track record of delivering measurable improvements in Finance service delivery to meet business 
objectives.  

 Track record of robust quality and budget management. 

 Experience of managing in a politically sensitive environment. 
 

ICT/ technological aptitude 

 Ability to use standard software applications (e.g. MS Office applications, Intermediate/ advanced 
Outlook, Spreadsheets, database etc) and local applications.  
 Utilises statistical reporting tools for analysis of Finance performance, people management data 

and web based research methods for benchmarking, best practice and future developments. 
 Uses and presents information for compliance and continuous improvement with relevant 

statutory, improvement and performance targets for internal or external audits and 
requirements.  

 Understands the process and applies experience of implementation of technology and e-based 
solutions to facilitate the most effective and efficient operation of the Finance over time. 

Personal qualities 

 High level of interpersonal, influencing and persuasion skills  

 Strong motivational skills with a track record of developing others  

 Confident and enthusiastic about change  

 Excellent personal organisation and the ability to organize others  

 Maintain a cool, clear head whilst under pressure  

 Flexible and resilient  
 

 

How we work 
This is our generic behaviours and attitudes framework against which our performance is measured 
(For full detail see the How we Work framework) 

Clusters Key Themes Level needed* (1 – 4) 
*See guidance below 

W
e 

d
el

iv
er

 

re
su

lt
s 

 Manage performance 4 

 Manage resources 4 

 Manage change 4 

W
e 

se
t 

an
 

ex
am

p
le

 

 Fairness 4 

 Integrity 4 

 Accountability 4 

Page 42



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Image 4 

W
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
 

an
d

 g
ro

w
 

  Personal development 4 

 Challenge 4 

 Innovation 4 

W
e 

w
o

rk
 

to
ge

th
er

 

Working with customers and colleagues 4 

Communication 4 

Leadership 4 

 
How to map the ‘How we work’ levels to posts 
 

Grade for WBC and 
Shared Services 

Up to Band 5 Band 6 - 9 Band 10 + / Chief Officers 

Do not manage staff 1 or 2 2  4 

Manage staff 3 3 4 

 

Grade for TRDC Up to Scale 6 S0, PO MG1 MG2 MG3, MG4 and above 

Do not manage staff 1 or 2 2  4 

Manage staff 3 3 4 

 
 

Politically Restricted Posts 
Under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended), posts that are either specified under 
that Act or posts that are defined as sensitive under the Act because the post holder is required to either 
give advice on a regular basis to the executive or any committee of the Council, or speak on behalf of the 
Council on a regular basis to journalists or broadcasters are ‘Politically Restricted’.  This means that the 
post holder is restricted in terms of public political activity.  For further information with regard to this 
please contact Human Resources. 
This post is a Specified Post is politically restricted. 
Job Share: 
Job Share will not be considered for this post. 
Equal Opportunities: 
The Council fully supports the terms of The Equality Act 2010.  We are an equal opportunities employer 
and do not discriminate on any grounds.   We want a diverse workforce which reflects our community and 
welcome applications from everyone regardless of age, disability, sex, race, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity and marital or civil partnership status. 
We are also committed to improving opportunities for people with disabilities, and are a registered ‘Two 
Ticks’ employer.  If you have a disability and demonstrate that you fulfil the person specification criteria 
for the role on your application form, you will be invited for an interview.  If you feel that you could carry 
out this post with some adjustments, please let us know.  If you require particular arrangements made for 
interview etc (e.g. signing, access), please indicate this on your application form. 

 
 

Job description: Name  Date 

Written by (Manager) J Wagstaffe January 2018 

Updated by (Manager) J Wagstaffe January 2018 

Approved by (Human Resources) S Popat January 2018 

 
 

Page 43



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Role Title:  Monitoring Officer 
  

Service Area:   
Band:    
Reporting to: Chief Executive  
Responsible for:   

Our leaders will be collaborative, open, influential, strategic, and creative.  They will build coalitions to drive a 
culture of innovation and achieve excellent results.  They will show an affinity with our values, and take pride 
in making our borough an inspiring, thriving, and creative place to live, work and visit. 
 
You will: 
 

 Champion good governance within the council, including keeping the council’s constitution up to date.  

 Ensure that all decisions made by the council are lawful, including ensuring that the council receives 
appropriate legal advice in a timely manner to promote high standards of decision making. 

 Be responsible for upholding high standards of behaviour amongst members and officers, including 
having oversight of the council’s code of conduct for councillors, keeping the code under review, 
training members on the code and ensuring any complaints are investigated. 

 Together with the Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer speak truth to power. 

 Liaise with the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and report to Cabinet and or Council 
any findings of fault causing injustice. 

 In accordance with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, support the Associate Director of Environment 
and Communities to deliver new robust approaches to discharge the Council’s civil emergencies and 
business continuity duties. 

 
The Council is committed to becoming carbon neutral by 2030.  You will ensure that all services and initiatives 
are compatible with, promote and support that ambition. 
 

 Champion our core values to enable our people to flourish in a dynamic and agile workplace where 
they are able to be their very best. 

 Embed all elements of Reimaging Watford across your services, ensuring the adoption of hybrid-
working practices and the creation of a culture of innovation and creativity. 

 Ensure that the council has adequate management arrangements for Health and Safety, in accordance 
with the council’s policy and in line with its legal obligations, and demonstrate effective governance. 

 Ensure the organisation understands and complies with the council’s constitution, regularly keep it 
under review, and with the Constitution Working Party, make any recommendations for change to 
council as required. 

Purpose 

 

Key Responsibilities 

Role Profile 

Page 44



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Have a detailed understanding of the Council, committee and Cabinet procedure rules and be able to 
give all assistance to members and officers on their interpretation and implementation. 

 Attend full Council and Cabinet and such other committees of the council as is required or arrange for 
attendance by an appropriately qualified substitute. 

 Be responsible for ensuring the council acts within its legal powers, ensuring that all decision makers 
have early access to legal advice and that reports to Council, Cabinet and committees have been seen 
and commented on by a solicitor or barrister before they are published. 

 Ensure that Council, Cabinet, and committees are attended by a solicitor or barrister where necessary. 

 Ensure that all claims made against the council are passed to the legal shared service in a timely 
manner and liaise with the legal shared service to ensure they are being managed. 

 Be responsible for keeping the council’s seal and making decisions on whether a document needs to 
be sealed. 

 Be the council’s proper officer for the purposes of the constitution. 

 Uphold high standards of governance. 

 Have a close working relationship with the Shared Internal Audit Service, the Shared Fraud Team, the 
Chief Finance Officer, and the council’s external auditors. 

 Liaise with the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman on the investigation of complaints 
received by them. Ensure timely responses to their enquiries from services and co-ordinate the 
response. Act on any recommendations in liaison with the service to which the complaint relates 
ensuring the Ombudsman is kept up to date. Formally report to either Cabinet or Council as 
appropriate any findings of fault causing injustice. 

 Take the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s annual letter to corporate management 
board and audit committee. 

 Promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members, having regard to the council’s code of 
conduct for councillors and the Nolan Principles. Keep the code under review. Regularly train 
members on the code.  

 Receive any complaints about member conduct and deal with them in accordance with the council’s 
procedures. Keep the complaints log up to date and publicise how a complaint will be dealt with.  

 Be responsible for ensuring the council has sufficient independent persons to liaise with in relation to 
member complaints. 

 Be the lead officer for the Standards Committee. 

 Be the lead officer for the Constitution Working Party. 

 Be a member of the Corporate Management Team 

 Be a member of the Statutory Officers Group. 

 Hold the register of members’ pecuniary interests and ensure that it is kept up to date and published 
on the web. 

 Keep the register of members’ gifts and hospitality 

 Keep the register of officers’ gifts and hospitality. 

 Compile the list of related party transactions for senior officers and members every January for the 
external auditor. 

 Sign off with the chief finance officer the annual governance statement. 

 Annually publish the percentage of electors required to trigger a referendum to change the mayoral 
model of governance. 

 You may be required to undertake duties on behalf of the Electoral Registration Officer and/or the 
Returning Officer relating to the registration of electors and the organisation of elections i.e., 
processing postal votes, canvassing properties during office hours. 

 You may also be required to undertake duties to help to deliver council services during times of local 
or national emergencies. This may include duties outside your usual role and/or at a different location.  

 

Specific Knowledge, Skills and Expertise 

Page 45



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 A good grounding in Local Government Law. 

 A thorough knowledge of the elected mayoral and cabinet model of governance. 

 A detailed knowledge of the council’s constitution, including meeting procedure rules, contract 
procedure rules and the code of conduct for councillors. 

 The ability to problem solve, and think laterally. 

 High ethical standards of behaviour. 

 Political nous. 

 Ability to engender trust from members of all political groups. 

 Be able to give training. 

 Not be afraid to speak truth to power. 

 Excellent communication skills. 

 Be able to think on your feet. 
 
Chief Executive 

Chief Finance Officer 
Fellow Corporate Management Team members 
All councillors and the Elected Mayor 
Legal shared service 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
Independent persons 
Internal Audit Service 
External Auditor 
Internal Fraud Service 
Other officers across the council 
Fellow MOs in Hertfordshire 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Role title:  Executive Director of Place 
 
Accountable to: Chief Executive 
 
Role Purpose  
 
Our future leaders will be collaborative, open, influential, strategic and creative, able to build coalitions to 
drive a culture of innovation and achieve excellent results. 
 
This role is for the leader who will be the champion for our place. You will: 
 

 Enhance and protect Watford, lead and enable growth, development, inward investment, and 
regeneration across the borough; 

 Lead our approach to the economic development of Watford; 

Key Relationships 

Page 46



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Maintain an attractive, sustainable and well run town for residents, business and visitors through the 
effective management of waste and recycling services; 

 Ensure all strategies deliver accessible and excellent parks, open spaces and public realm; 

 Ensure that our services are integrated and easily accessible to all customers and that we are 
responsive and efficient in how we manage and engage with all who come into contact with us. 

 
As a member of the Council’s Strategic Leadership Team and Corporate Management Team, you will be 
required to demonstrate exceptional strategic-leadership skills, inspiring and motivating people to succeed. 
You will have highly developed relationship-building skills that will enable you to build successful and effective 
partnerships that will ensure we continue to maximise the enormous potential in Watford. 
 
Through an integrated, place-based approach, you will progress a range of programmes and projects that will 
protect and enhance our borough, develop our economy, meet our 2030 carbon neutral commitments and 
deliver a number of our high-profile regeneration projects. 
 
Main accountabilities of the role 
 
Drive forward ‘our place’ through delivery of high-quality and sustainable outcomes 
 

 Lead the sustainable development of Watford’s economy and physical infrastructure to realise the 
Council’s vision for the borough. 

 Work collaboratively with existing partners and develop new partnerships to secure major investment 
and sustainable growth in the borough. 

 Through an integrated strategic approach, progress a range of programmes and projects that will 
meet our 2030 carbon neutral commitments and deliver a number of our high-profile, place-shaping 
projects. 

 Be the senior responsible Officer for all major capital programmes and projects for capital delivery 
across the Council, and ensure they are delivered within the Council’s project-management 
methodologies, and at pace. 

 Lead the identification of regeneration projects and ensure they are delivered within the Council’s 
project-management methodologies, and also at pace. 

 Lead the delivery of the Council’s Sustainable Transport Strategy, Local Plan, Town Centre Strategy 
and Planning Framework for Watford town centre. 

 Scope and develop a plan to assess the viability of the Watford to Croxley link. 

 Lead the delivery of the Neighbourhoods Project as part of the Town Hall Quarter Programme. 

 Lead the delivery the Council’s ambitions in relation to the provision of affordable rented homes. 

 Lead the Council’s response to the Environment Act 2021. 

 Drive the objectives of Reimaging Watford and a new Behaviours Framework.  
 
Provide robust corporate governance and assurance 
 

 Empower officers to work within a risk-management and governance framework that sets out 
decision-making parameters (including budget) and the Council’s appetite for risk. 

 Maintain overall budgetary responsibility for the Place Directorate. 

 Ensure that the best use is made of the Council’s resources corporately to secure the best outcomes 
for residents within the resources available.  

 Ensure that the best use is made of the Directorate’s financial resources to optimise outcomes for 
residents within financial restraints and achieve balanced budgets. 

 Ensure that the directorate has adequate management arrangements for Health and Safety, in 
accordance with the Council’s policy, allowing it to meet legal obligations and demonstrate effective 
governance. 

 Ensure full compliance with all appropriate legislation and statutory obligations. 

Page 47



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
Set strategy, delivering success and long-term transformation 
 

 Lead and develop the Council’s growth and economic development strategies and plans, working with 
and influencing a range of key stakeholders and businesses across Watford, Hertfordshire, the UK and 
the wider global economy to ensure that Watford influences extensively, develops its profile and 
accesses opportunities and funding. 

 Advise the Council on strategic property (community, operational, regeneration and investment) 
matters, taking steps to ensure that assets both in the Council’s ownership, and beyond, are utilised to 
best effect and exploit appropriate opportunities for growth and income. 

 Be responsible for all strategic matters regarding planning and land use, and the protection and 
enhancement of the environment.  

 Together with stakeholders, be responsible for all strategic matters in relation to economic 
development and the provision of leisure, art, culture and heritage across the borough. 

 Develop and implement effective communication and engagement arrangements with service users, 
stakeholders and partnership agencies, in order to develop a high-level understanding of the roles and 
delivery of services and to facilitate input to the development of related strategies and plans.  

 
Provide strategic leadership 
 

 Provide strong strategic leadership and support to the Chief Executive, the Elected Mayor, Portfolio 
Holders and Elected Members, ensuring they receive high-quality advice on strategy and policy issues 
in the development and implementation of growth, regeneration and economic development. 

 Provide inspirational, constructive and decisive leadership to the Place Directorate and create the 
conditions for a high-performance, networked operating model and culture across the Council, 
encouraging innovation and hybrid working. 

 Sit as a Director on a number of Boards of the Council’s joint ventures.  

 Continuously horizon scan for opportunities to improve services, deliver efficiency savings and 
develop commercial opportunities. 

 Support the democratic process, providing advice to elected members on the appropriate response to 
local, national, European and international matters that have implications for the services.  

 Demonstrate a commitment to own personal and professional development to meet the changing 
demands of the role. 

 Provide strategic leadership to the Council’s Equalities, Diversity & Inclusion journey to deliver for 
both residents and staff. Driving through Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion improvements/change 
across all services. 

 
Support a collaborative and inclusive culture 
 

 Play a key role in the collective and corporate leadership of the Council, setting strategic direction and 
personally providing the constructive leadership needed to create the conditions for success within a 
supportive and transparent Strategic Leadership Team. 

 Promote an organisational culture that is positive, forward-looking and embraces change, is outcomes 
orientated and community focused, in an environment that is fair, supportive and open, enabling 
employees to feel empowered and valued.  

 Ensure effective and open communication and good working relations with the Chief Executive, 
Corporate Management Team, Members, Directorates, Groups, external agencies and partnerships, to 
eliminate silo working and support delivery of the Council’s strategic aims.  

 Take on corporate duties in connection with elections, emergency resilience and response and other 
cross-cutting responsibilities. 

 Support all organisational development activities and embed through service engagement. 

Page 48



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Support the development of individuals and teams to develop career pathways to ensure a talent 
pipeline for the council. 

 
Portfolio of services 
 

 Building Control 

 Cemeteries 

 Development Management 

 Economic Development  

 Parks & Open Spaces 

 Facilities Management 

 Waste & Recycling 

 CCTV 
 

 Museum and Heritage 

 Leisure Services 

 Parking Services 

 Planning Policy 

 Planning Enforcement 

 Property & Regeneration  

 Street Scene & Market 

 Transport  
 
 

This is not a complete statement of all duties and responsibilities of this post. The post holder may be required 
to carry out any other duties as directed by the Chief Executive that are commensurate with the level of the 
post. 
 
The accountabilities outlined in the job description will be supplemented by annual key objectives, which will be 
developed and reviewed with the post holder as part of the annual appraisal process. 
 
Person specification 
 
Part one 
 
Knowledge, experience and qualifications 
 

 Relevant degree or equivalent qualification in a relevant management and leadership discipline. 

 Strong and recent experience of place shaping, with a solid track record of leading complex change 
and transformation at pace and scale. 

 Substantial experience of operating in a senior leadership role and providing clear leadership, 
direction and advice within a complex regulated environment. 

 Proven leadership and people-management experience with the ability to empower and develop great 
managers. 

 Strong, political awareness and commercial and financial acumen. 

 Background in a relevant sector, with sound knowledge of local government and the environment in 
which it operates. 

 Significant experience of financial planning and budgeting and oversight and control of public funds. 

 Experience of engaging with internal and external stakeholders at all levels. 

 Strong and recent experience of building and developing effective working relationships with partners 
and working in collaboration to ensure high-quality and seamless service delivery. 

 
Part two 
 
Skills and abilities 
 

 Well-developed strategic and critical thinking. 

 Acknowledged as role model, expert and thought leader. 

 Ability to identify opportunities for change and execute a new path forward. 

 Ability to lead and manage change to deliver significant and continuous improvement. 

 Sound decision making and leadership judgement.  

Page 49



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Ability to work in a highly complex, dynamic environment and deal with ambiguity. 

 A strong community focus, with a reputation for getting things done.  

 A proven flair for building positive, productive and influential relationships. 

 Agile, adaptable, and resilient; able to prioritise a large workload.  

 Compelling communication and influencing skills. 

 Collaborative, supportive team player. 

 Demonstrate a commitment to continued professional development. 
 
 
Part three 
 
Behavioural competencies 
 
The council is currently working on a framework to reflect the competencies and behaviours we expect from 
our officer leaders and senior managers.  This draws on the views of all staff who have been invited to 
participate in a series of focussed workshops. 
 
The emerging draft framework encapsulates a range of key behaviours, which will be critical for our officer 
leaders and senior managers, including: 
 

 Working Together – collaborating with one another, engaging with our stakeholders (both customers 
and partners), problem solving to achieve results and ensure performance and delivery; 

 

 Empowerment – being agile and adaptable, resilient to pressure and change, accountable for our 
actions and creative in how we find solutions to any problems we encounter; 

 

 Developing our people – guiding, motivating and developing staff to achieve high performance and 
deliver our ambition; 

 

 Organisational awareness – understanding and being sensitive to organisational dynamics, culture 
and politics across and beyond the council and shaping our approach accordingly; 

 

 Strategic – being visionary, seeing the big picture and balancing risks and opportunities whilst being 
aware of the context of the challenge, applying innovative thinking to issues to achieve results; 

 

 Underpinning – communicating information clearly and convincingly, demonstrating leadership and 
ensuring sound, evidence based decision-making.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Role Title:    Director of Performance & Partnerships  
 
Service Area: Performance & Partnerships   
 
Band:  Chief Officer  
 
Reporting to: Chief Executive  

Page 50



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
Responsible for: Associate Director of Customer & Corporate Services, Associate Director of ICT & Shared 
Services, Associate Director of Housing & Wellbeing,  

 
Our future leaders will be collaborative, open, influential, strategic and creative, able to build coalitions to 
drive a culture of innovation and achieve excellent results. 
 
This role will have an impact on every aspect of the Council’s activities. You will: 
 

 Work to enhance organisational expertise in performance, programme and contract management; 

 Review and develop our existing shared service arrangements, as well as identifying and delivering 
new shared service opportunities; 

 Deliver the Council’s Collaboration & Commercial Strategy to identify and pursue opportunities to 
develop new income streams, convert new opportunities, maximise partnerships and access external 
funding; 

 Embed the Council’s new Continuous Improvement Framework;  

 Develop and implement a corporate approach to excellence in customer services, utilising new digital 
tools; 

 Ensure our services are integrated and easily accessible to all customers and that we are clear in how 
we manage and engage all those who come into contact with us; 

 Bring together and transform services such as strategic housing, housing needs, homelessness, 
housing support, community cohesion and community protection; 

 Enhance our commercial and operational performance to ensure a sustainable and self-sufficient 
organisation, fuelling our capacity to deliver better outcomes for our community; 

 Align our people, project-management and performance strategies with the Council Plan and to meet 
our carbon neutral 2030 ambitions, ensuring people understand how their contribution matters and 
are clear on expectations. 

 Have a lead role in the rejuvenation of the Town Hall and Watford Colosseum, delivering solutions 
which will see these buildings maximised for civic, community, business and cultural use, enhancing 
Watford’s reputation as a regional centre for culture and the arts; and leading the appointment of a 
new operator for the Colosseum; 

 In accordance with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, support the Associate Director of Environment & 
Communities to deliver new robust approaches to discharge the Council’s civil emergencies and 
business continuity duties. 

 
As a member of the Council’s Strategic Leadership Team and Corporate Management Team, you will be 
required to demonstrate exceptional strategic leadership skills, inspiring and motivating people to succeed.  
You will have highly developed relationship skills that will enable you to build successful and effective 
partnerships to ensure we maintain and enhance our reputation as one of the best district councils in the 
country. 
 
You will also lead the Council’s response to the sustainability/climate emergency, ensuring it is intrinsic to 
everything we do. You will translate the global ambitions of COP28 to local ambitions and inspire the 
workforce, delivery partners and stakeholders to reach our commitment to be carbon neutral by 2030.  You 
will lead and develop the Council’s Sustainability Strategy and Action Plan (Watford 2030), working with and 
influencing a range of key stakeholders and businesses across Watford, Hertfordshire and the UK to ensure 
that Watford develops its profile and accesses opportunities and funding. 
 
Through an integrated strategic approach, you will progress a range of programmes and projects that will 
meet our 2030 carbon-neutral commitments and deliver a number of high-profile commercial projects. 

Role Purpose 

 

Page 51



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 
Deliver and drive forward organisational expertise through the provision of high-quality and sustainable 
services/outcomes 
 

 Work collaboratively with partners and develop new partnerships to deliver shared-services 
opportunities.  

 Proactively identify opportunities to advance the Council Plan through continuous improvement 
initiatives that will deliver measurable performance and business improvement and culture change, 
embedding Reimaging Watford and our new Behaviours Framework. 

 Drive the objectives of the new People Strategy, including our values and a new Behaviours 
Framework. 

 Be the senior responsible officer for major transformation and commercial investment programmes 
and projects across the Council. 

 Lead the preparation and delivery of the borough’s Nominations Policy, Housing Strategy, Tenancy 
Strategy and Private Sector Renewal Policy. 

 Work collaboratively with the Section 115 Officer and the Associate Director of Customer & Corporate 
Services to develop a new approach to risk management, and to develop a commercial risk mitigation 
and opportunity tracker across the Council’s Capital Programme. 

 
Provide robust corporate governance and assurance 
 

 Empower officers to work within a risk management and governance framework that sets out 
decision-making parameters (including budget) and the Council’s appetite for risk. 

 Maintain overall budgetary responsibility for the Performance & Partnerships Directorate . 

 Ensure the efficient, effective and economic design, use and deployment of all resources across the 
Council.  

 Ensure that the Directorate’s financial resources are maximised to secure the best outcomes for 
residents within financial restraints, and achieve balanced budgets. 

 Ensure that the Directorate has adequate management arrangements for regeneration and safety, in 
accordance with the Council’s policy, allowing it to meet legal obligations and demonstrate effective 
governance. 

 Ensure full compliance with all appropriate legislation and statutory obligations. 
 
Set strategy, delivering success and long-term transformation 
 

 Lead and develop the Council’s corporate and commercial strategies and delivery plans, working with, 
and influencing, a range of key stakeholders across Watford, Hertfordshire, the UK and the wider 
global economy, to ensure that Watford influences extensively, and develops its profile and accesses 
opportunities and funding. 

 Develop and implement a Collaboration & Commercial Strategy and delivery plan to balance 
commercial and collaborative opportunities against good governance and sound strategic and 
financial principles. 

 Lead, develop and deliver the borough’s Housing Strategy, Tenancy Strategy and Private Sector 
Renewal Policy. 

 Embed a robust, strategic, continuous improvement framework that enables the delivery of council-
wide, high-performing, customer-focused services for Watford.  

 Lead the development and implementation of the Council’s digital strategy, balancing technology, 
processes and people to deliver efficient, effective customer and community-focused services across 
the Council.  

 Embed our Customer Experience Strategy. 

Main accountabilities of the role 

 

Page 52



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Lead the development and implementation of a robust contract-management framework to 
strengthen financial assessment and the monitoring of suppliers.  

 Develop a risk-management and governance framework with the Monitoring Officer and S151 Officer 
that sets out decision-making parameters (including budget) and the Council’s appetite for risk. 

 Work in partnership with the management team to develop a thorough approach to risk management 
that underpins all that we do, and ensure that Elected Members can make decisions on commercial 
projects that are well informed and evidence based. 

 Develop and implement effective communication and engagement arrangements with service users, 
stakeholders and partnership agencies, in order to develop a high-level understanding of the roles and 
delivery of services and to facilitate input to the development of related strategies and plans.  

 Formulate and implement corporate strategies and policies promoting a strong performance, and 
transparent risk and governance culture across the Council. 

 Work with the Executive Head of HR & OD to deliver of the Council’s People Strategy, including a new 
Pay and Reward Strategy, to ensure the Council can attract and retain a high-calibre workforce to 
support the delivery of high-performing and customer-focused services.  

 Develop and implement corporate strategies for the provision of corporate services that are dynamic 
and respond to client needs. 

 
Provide strategic leadership 
 

 Provide strong strategic leadership and support to the Chief Executive, the Elected Mayor, Portfolio 
Holders and Elected Members, ensuring they receive high-quality advice on strategy and policy issues 
in the development and implementation of commercial projects to underpin the Council’s financial 
resilience. 

 Provide inspirational, constructive and decisive leadership to the Performance & Partnerships 
Directorate and create the conditions for a high-performance, networked operating model and culture 
across the Council, encouraging innovation and hybrid working. 

 Sit as a Director on a number of Boards of the Council’s joint ventures.  

 Continuously horizon scan for opportunities to improve services, deliver efficiency savings and 
develop commercial opportunities.  

 Support the democratic process, providing advice to elected members on the appropriate response to 
local, national, European and international matters that have implications for the services.  

 Demonstrate a commitment to own personal and professional development to meet the changing 
demands of the role. 

 Provide strategic leadership to the Council’s Equality, Diversity & Inclusion journey to deliver for both 
residents and staff, driving through Equality, Diversity & Inclusion improvements and change across all 
services. 

 
Support a collaborative and inclusive culture 
 

 Play a key role in the collective and corporate leadership of the Council, setting strategic direction and 
personally providing the constructive leadership and vision needed to create the conditions for 
success within a supportive and transparent Strategic Leadership Team. 

 Promote an organisational culture that is positive, forward-looking and embraces change, is outcomes 
orientated and community focused, in an environment that is fair, supportive and open, enabling 
employees to feel empowered and valued.  

 Ensure effective and open communication and good working relations with the Chief Executive, 
Strategic Leadership Team, Corporate Management Team, Members, Directorates, Groups, external 
agencies and partnerships, to eliminate silo working and support delivery of the Council’s strategic 
aims.  

 Take on corporate duties in connection with elections, emergency resilience and response and other 
cross-cutting responsibilities. 

Page 53



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Support all organisational development activities and embed through service engagement. 

 Support the development of individuals and teams to develop career pathways to ensure a talent 
pipeline for the Council. 

 

 

 Business Intelligence and GIS 

 Community Protection 

 Corporate Health and Safety 

 Customer Experience 

 Elections  

 Enterprise Project Management Office 

 Environmental Health Services, including food safety, pest control and sustainable energy and homes 

 Homelessness 

 Housing, including private sector 

 ICT 

 Licensing 

 Mailroom and print 

 Performance Management 

 Procurement 

 Shared Building Control and Planning Enforcement (contract management of shared service) 

 Shared Finance (relationship management of the shared service) 

 Shared HR and OD (contract management of shared service) 

 Shared Legal (relationship management of the shared service) 

 Shared Revenues and Benefits (relationship management of the shared service) 

 Support the Chief Executive in the delivery of the Communications and engagement service 
 
This is not a complete statement of all duties and responsibilities of this post. The post holder may be required 
to carry out any other duties as directed by the Chief Executive that are commensurate with the level of the 
post.  
 
The accountabilities outlined in the job description will be supplemented by annual key objectives, which will be 
developed and reviewed with the post holder as part of the annual appraisal process. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Role Title:  Executive Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development  
                                           Watford Borough Council and Three Rivers District Council 
 
Service Area:  Human Resources and Organisational Development 
Band:   TBC 

Portfolio of Services  

 

Role Profile 

Page 54



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

Reporting to:  TBC 
Responsible for: HR Operations Lead, HR Business Partners and OD Business Partner 

You will be the strategic lead and responsible for the day-to-day operations, improvement and development 
of the Human Resources and Organisational Development (HR & OD) service, shared across Watford Borough 
and Three Rivers District Councils. You will deliver collaboratively and creatively, alongside our leaders, 
demonstrating Watford’s values and behaviours.  
 
As a member of both senior management teams, you will champion employee talent, attraction, retention and 
capability, taking pride in supporting and working to deliver against the Councils’ corporate and strategic 
plans, enabling each Council to achieve their visions.   
 
You will: 
 

 Work closely with the Heads of Paid Service and their Senior Management Teams, contributing to the 
development of a Values and Behaviours framework and People/Organisational Development 
Strategy.  

 Lead the development of the Councils’ employer proposition and people-focused policies and 
processes that enable them to attract, manage, engage and retain the talent and capabilities needed 
to deliver the Councils’ individual ambitions.  

 Be the leading expert on people matters at the Councils’, supporting the delivery of each Councils’ 
vision and Council Plan.  

 Support the Heads of Paid Service and Senior Management Teams to deliver on each Councils’ 
individual internal Equalities, Diversity, and Inclusion agenda, ensuring that this work delivers 
sustainable, positive and tangible change.  

 Work with the Heads of Paid Service and their Senior Management Teams to drive a continuous 
improvement agenda, deliver efficiencies, and develop new and innovative service-delivery models. 

 Support the Councils’ approach to agile working, including leading on HR & OD service specific 
requirements. 

 Support the commitment by the Councils’ to become carbon neutral by 2030.  

 Act as the strategic HR & OD lead for each Council. 

 Transform our HR & OD shared service, optimising opportunities for collaboration across both 
Councils’, Hertfordshire and beyond, supporting the development of the employees of each Council. 

 Review the role of Corporate Health and Safety in each Council, making recommendations to the 
Heads of Paid Service for each Council on future models of delivery.  (Currently under review.  Please 
note responsibility may be transferred to a different service) 

 
MAIN ROLE: 

 Contribute to the commercial agenda by building and maintaining a viable commercial offer for the HR 
& OD function. 

 Effective management of people related contracted services, such as Payroll, Occupational Health, 
Employee Support, Temporary Staff and Health and Safety.  

 Ensuring high quality, best value services are provided to both Councils’. 

 Lead engagement discussions and negotiations with Trade Unions and representative bodies on all 
workforce issues on behalf of both Councils’ as employers. 

 Responsible for advice on all employee relations matters. 

Role Purpose 

 

Main Accountabilities 

Page 55



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Connect the Councils’ corporate and strategic objectives to the HR & OD Service Plan, and through to 
individual objectives, ensuring that every team member is engaged and connected to the role they 
play in delivering these commitments.  

 Working with the Senior Management Teams and Heads of Paid Service of both Councils’, embed all 
elements of an agile way of working, ensuring the adoption of hybrid-working practices and the 
creation of a culture of innovation and creativity. 

 
Provide robust corporate and service governance and assurance: 

 Ensure effective financial and operational management of all services and functions with the HR & OD 
service.  

 Ensure HR & OD service planning is shaped by the objectives of the Councils’. 

 Manage service performance through the accountability of the team, allocation of resources, 
management of risks, and strong, inspirational leadership.  

 Ensure that the HR & OD shared service has adequate management arrangements for Health and 
Safety, in accordance with the policy, allowing it to meet legal obligations and demonstrate effective 
governance  (Currently under review.  Please note responsibility may be transferred to a different 
service) 

 Monitor performance across the HR & OD service using key performance indicators to interpret and 
analyse management data and contract management tools.  

 
Provide corporate leadership based on collaboration, innovation, transformation and risk management: 

 Work collaboratively with Heads of Paid Service and their Senior Management Teams. 

 Discharge corporate responsibility and duties in connection with elections, emergency resilience and 
response, and other cross-cutting responsibilities.  

 Lead the development, delivery, continuous improvement and ongoing review of HR & OD and 
communication of service processes, policies and strategies in relation to the functions covered by this 
role.  

 
Integrated service delivery: 

 Ensure effective partnership and stakeholder relationships across all functions covered by this role.  

 Direct the service response in the event of an emergency.  

 Be the strategic and professional lead for the HR & OD business operations, ensuring that they 
underpin delivery of all services for both Councils’. 

 Support the Senior Management Teams and Heads of Paid Service of both Councils’, to embed a 
whole-council approach to raise awareness and understanding of the progress and actions required to 
deliver the Councils’ goal of carbon neutrality by 2030. 

 Support the Heads of Paid Service to deliver continuous improvement of services, shared-service 
opportunities, and commercial initiatives.  

 
 
Collectively responsible for organisational development and transformation: 

 Support organisational development activities and embed through service engagement.  

 Support the development of individuals, teams and both Councils’ to develop career opportunities 
across the functions, and both Councils’ where appropriate. 

 

 FCIPD qualification 

 OD qualification or equivalent experience in a complex environment 

 Demonstrable recent experience of delivering and managing shared services, with a clear track 
record of leading change and transformation across service areas/teams.  

 Demonstratable commitment to personal development and ongoing learning.  

Knowledge, Experience and Qualifications 

Page 56



 
Watford Borough Council   Human Resources 
 

                                                                                                                  

 
 

 Experience of operating in a senior management role and providing clear leadership, direction, and 
advice within a complex, regulated environment.  

 Proven leadership and people-management experience with the ability to empower and develop 
staff and teams.  

 Strong political awareness and commercial and financial acumen and demonstrable experience 
within these areas.  

 Background in a relevant sector, with sound knowledge of local government and the environment in 
which it operates. 

 Demonstrable experience of financial planning and budgeting and oversight and control of public 
funds. 

 Experience of engaging with internal and external stakeholders at all levels.  

 Demonstrable experience of building and developing effective working relationships with partners 
and working in collaboration to ensure high-quality and seamless service delivery. 

 

 Well-developed strategic and critical thinking. 

 Acknowledged as role model, expert and thought leader. 

 Ability to identify opportunities for change and execute a new path forward. 

 Ability to lead and manage change to deliver significant and continuous improvement. 

 Sound decision-making and leadership judgement. 

 Effective problem-solving skills within a complex organisation. 

 Ability to work in a highly complex, dynamic environment and deal with ambiguity. 

 Political acumen and an understanding of operating an a political environment. 

 A strong community focus, with a reputation for getting things done. 

 A proven flair for building positive, productive and influential relationships. 

 Agile, adaptable and resilient; able to prioritise a large workload. 

 Compelling communication and influencing skills. 

 Collaborative, supportive team player. 

 Demonstrable commitment to continued professional development. 
 
 
 

Skills and Abilities 

Page 57



Watford Borough Council                                                                                                                 Human Resources 

33 
 

 

 
Appendix 2 
 
Chief Officer Pay Structure - Watford Borough Council  
 

WBC Chief Officer Pay 1st April 2023  
 

Chief Executive £147,714. 

 

Executive Director 1 £105,492 

2 £110.667 

3 £115,842 

4 £121,017 

Note:  
1. The above Pay bands are reviewed in line with the annual 

pay review. 
 

Director  1 
£89,175.00 

 2 £92,257.00 

 3 £95,189.00 

 4 £98,196.00 

 5 £101,484.00 

 6 £104,829.00 

 
 

Executive Head of Service 1 £80,385.00 

2 £82,004.00 

3 £83,625.00 

4 £85,244.00 

5 £86,946.00 

 
 

Associate Directors 
(Extended Pay Band,  
Grade 12)  
 

1 £74,716.00 

2 £77,313.00 

3 £79,910.00 

4 £82,507.00 

5 
£85,104.00 

 
Note:  

1.    The above Pay bands exclude the London Weighting 
Fringe Allowance of £988, which is paid for these roles. 
2. Pay bands are reviewed in line with the annual pay 

review. 

Monitoring Officer  With effect from 01 June 2024, 
a £6,000 honorarium payment 
in addition to substantive 
salary of postholder will be 
paid. 

 

Page 58



Watford Borough Council                                                                                                                 Human Resources 

34 
 

 

 
 

Shared Services - Chief Finance 
Officer/Section 151 Officer 

 
 
 
1 

 
 
 
£75,766.00 

 2 £77,372.00 

 3 £78,985.00 

 4 £80,589.00 
 

 
Note:  

1. The Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer is also in receipt of an honorarium payment of £5,000 
per annum in respect of these duties. 

2. The above Pay bands exclude the London Weighting Fringe Allowance of £988, which is also paid 
for these roles. 

3. Pay bands are reviewed in line with the annual pay review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



Watford Borough Council                                                                                                                 Human Resources 

35 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 3 

 

Page 60



Watford Borough Council                                                                                                                 Human Resources 

36 
 

 

 

 
 

 
  
Fringe Weighting Allowance:  £988 per annum  
 
Essential Car User (where applicable):  Lump sum allowance   
 
Up to 999 cc:   £846.00 per annum  
1000 cc and above: £963.00 per annum 
 
Stand by duty allowance (where applicable):  £32.81 per session. 
 
Appendix 4 
 
Summary of JNC/ NJC national pay awards previous 5 years 
 
2019 2.0% pay award. 
2020 2.75% pay award. 
2021 1.75% pay award. 
2022 £1,925 per annum across all pay points 
2023      £1,925 per annum across points 2 to 43. 3.88% increase for salaries above  point 43. 3.5%  pay    
               award to Chief Officers and Chief Executive Officer. 
 
* note that there are no posts in the Council that are currently remunerated below spinal column point 13 
– (£13.93 excluding Local Weighting) which is above the Real Living Wage threshold of £12.00 per hour for 
2023/24. 
 
Current Real Living wage rate  
 
Real Living wage   £12.00 for 2023/24. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61


	Agenda
	5 Mayor's Report
	10 Vice Chairman 2024-25
	Appendix 1 for Vice Chairman 2024-25
	Appendix 2 - Procedures to elect the Vice Chairman

	11 Allocation of disposal proceeds to acquire TA properties
	12 Council Pay Policy Statement - April 2024
	Appendix A - WBC Council Pay Policy Statement 2024.v4


